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[LB57 LB160 LB239 LB295 LB296 LB370A LB390 LB395 LB402 LB405 LB458 LB497
LB564 LB579 LB597 LB659 LB663 LR43 LR44 LR45 LR46]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER PRESIDING: []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. Welcome to the
George Norris Legislative Chamber for this, the fortieth day of the One Hundredth
Legislature, First Session. Our chaplain for the day is Reverend Rick Snodgrass,
Assembly of God Church, Wayne, Nebraska, Senator Engel's district. Would you please
rise. []
PASTOR SNODGRASS: (Prayer offered.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: I call to order the fortieth day of One Hundredth Legislature,
First Session. Senators, please record your presence. Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: I have a quorum present, Mr. President. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Are there any corrections for the
Journal? []
CLERK: I have no corrections, Mr. President. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Are there any messages, reports, or announcements? []
CLERK: Mr. President, your committee on...I'm sorry, your Committee on Government,
Military and Veterans Affairs offers a notice of hearing signed by Senator Aguilar.
Priority bill designation: Senator Dwite Pedersen, LB405; Senator Hudkins, LB663. Mr.
President, communication from the Governor regarding the withdrawal of an appointee
who had been submitted for confirmation hearing. That's all that I had, Mr. President.
(Legislative Journal pages 743-744.) [LB405 LB663]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. We'll now proceed to the first item on
the agenda, confirmation reports. []
CLERK: Mr. President, the first report this morning is from the Government, Military and
Veterans Affairs Committee, chaired by Senator Aguilar. It involves an appointment of
Ms. Lucinda Glen to the State Personnel Board. (Legislative Journal page 698.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Aguilar, you are recognized
to open on the confirmation report. []
SENATOR AGUILAR: Thank you, Mr. President and members. We had a hearing and
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approved the reappointment of Lucinda Glen to the State Personnel Board. She came
forward and gave excellent testimony and we highly recommend her and voted her
unanimously to approve her. Thank you, Mr. President. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Aguilar. You have heard the opening on
the confirmation report from the Government, Military and Veterans Affairs. The floor is
now open for discussion. Is there anyone that wishes to speak to this confirmation
report? Seeing no lights on, Senator Aguilar, you're recognized. Senator Aguilar waives
closing. You have heard the closing on the adoption of the report offered by the
Government, Military and Veterans Affairs Committee. All those in favor vote yea; all
those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal pages 744-745.) 31 ayes, 0 nays, Mr.
President, on the adoption of the confirmation report. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, next confirmation. []
CLERK: Second report, Mr. President, involves two appointments to the State
Emergency Response Commission. The report was handled by the Government,
Military and Veterans Affairs Committee. (Legislative Journal page 698.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Aguilar, you are recognized
to open on the confirmation report. []
SENATOR AGUILAR: Thank you, Mr. President and members. The first appointee is
Tim Hofbauer. As you said, it was to the State Emergency Response Commission. Tim
came forward and we heard testimony from him, did an excellent job of representing.
He's very well-qualified for this position and was approved unanimously by our
committee. And we recommend that everybody else approve him as well. Thank you. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Aguilar. You have heard the opening on
the confirmation report from the Government, Military and Veterans Affairs Committee.
The floor is open for discussion. Is there any discussion on the report? Seeing none,
Senator Aguilar is recognized to close. He waives closing. You've heard the closing of
the adoption of the report offered by the Government, Military and Veterans Affairs
Committee. All those in favor vote yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted
that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal page 745.) 31 ayes, 0 nays, Mr. President, on
the adoption of the confirmation report. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, next confirmation report. []
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CLERK: Mr. President, the Agriculture Committee has two reports this morning. The first
involves the appointment of Linda Lovgren to the Nebraska State Fair Board.
(Legislative Journal page 698.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Erdman, you are recognized to open on your
confirmation reports for the Ag Committee. []
SENATOR ERDMAN: Mr. President, members of the Legislature, the Agriculture
Committee held a public hearing for the appointee of Linda Lovgren to the Nebraska
State Fair Board on February 13. Ms. Lovgren is a reappointee to the State Fair Board.
She represents the business community of Omaha. She was first appointed last year to
fill the remainder of the term vacated by Jack Partsch (sic). She's eligible for this and
one additional three-year term. She's a native of Iowa. She's the daughter of a farm
family near Lakota, Iowa. She's a graduate of Indiana University in telecommunications,
is the founder of a marketing business in Omaha and her career has invested heavily in
media and advertising and public relations. During her appointment last year as well as
her reappointment this year, she has provided sufficient information to the committee
that outlines her extensive list of professional achievements as a community volunteer.
These include the Omaha Chamber of Commerce, the Peter Kiewit Institute, the
Nebraska 4-H Development Foundation, the Advertising Federation, and several other
volunteer positions too numerous to mention here this morning. Again, Ms. Lovgren is a
reappointee representing the Omaha business community. The Nebraska State Fair
Board membership includes seven members that are selected by the fair districts
across the state, four members that are appointed by the Governor and confirmed by
the Legislature, two of whom represent the Lincoln business community, one represents
the Omaha business community, and one is selected to represent the business
community of the state at large. No member of the Legislature may serve on the State
Fair Board and the chairperson of the Nebraska Arts Council and the chancellor of the
University of Nebraska Lincoln or their designees are ex officio members of the State
Fair Board. The Ag Committee advanced the nomination of Ms. Lovgren to the full body
on a unanimous vote, 7-0. And I would recommend the adoption of the committee's
appointment of Ms. Linda Lovgren to the State Fair Board. Thank you, Mr. President. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Erdman. You have heard the opening
on the Agriculture Committee confirmation report. The floor is now open for discussion.
Is there anyone wishing to speak to the confirmation report? There are no lights on.
Senator Erdman is recognized to close. He waives closing. You have heard the closing
of the adoption of the report offered by the Agriculture Committee. All those in favor vote
yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal page 745-746.) 35 ayes, 0 nays, Mr.
President, on the adoption of the confirmation report. []
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, next confirmation report. []
CLERK: Mr. President, the Agriculture Committee reports on the appointment of Sallie
Atkins to the State Fair Board. (Legislative Journal page 698.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Erdman, as Chair, you are recognized to open on
the Agriculture Committee report. []
SENATOR ERDMAN: Mr. President, members of the Legislature, this is the second of
two appointees to the State Fair Board that were sent to us at the request of the
Governor. The Ag Committee again had a public hearing on this appointee, Sallie
Atkins, on February 13. Sallie is a individual who was one of the original appointees to
the State Fair Board during its restructuring after the 2002 Legislative Session and
LB1236. Sallie represents the business community of the state at large. That again is
one of the positions that is outlined in statute as the four members that are to be
appointed by the Governor and confirmed by the Legislature. Sallie was originally
appointed in 2002 for a term of one year and reappointed to a full three-year term in
2003. She will be eligible for reappointment to this, her final three-year term. Sallie is a
graduate of Mullen High School and the Lincoln School of Commerce. She is the former
executive director of the Nebraska Beef Council, which has participated at the fair each
year. She is a former member of the Upper Loup NRD and a former member of the
Purdum State Bank. She and her husband operate a ranch near Halsey, Nebraska. She
remains active in a number of commissions and councils, including the Council for
Agricultural Research Extension and Teaching, the Center for Grassland Studies, and
Agricultural Builders of Nebraska. The committee advanced Sallie Atkins' appointment
to the full Legislature on a vote of 7-0. And I would encourage the Legislature's
confirmation of Ms. Atkins to the State Fair Board. Thank you, Mr. President. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Erdman. You have heard the opening
on the Agriculture Committee's confirmation report. Is there anyone that wishes to
speak to that report? Seeing no lights on, Senator Erdman, you are recognized to close.
Senator Erdman waives closing. You have heard the closing for the adoption of the
report offered by the Agriculture Committee. All those in favor vote yea; all those
opposed vote nay. Have all those that wish to vote done so? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal pages 746.) 27 ayes, 0 nays, Mr. President,
on the adoption of the confirmation report. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The confirmation report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, next
confirmation report. []
CLERK: Mr. President, the Transportation and Telecommunications Committee reports
on three appointments to the Nebraska Motor Vehicle Industry Licensing Board.
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(Legislative Journal page 699.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Fischer, as Chair of the
Transportation Committee, you are recognized to open on the committee report. []
SENATOR FISCHER: Thank you, Mr. President and members of the body. The first of
the nominations is Mr. Jack Henry. This is a reappointment to the Nebraska Motor
Vehicle Licensing Board for a term from May 18, 2006, to May 18, 2009. Mr. Henry is a
graduate of Central Community College at Hastings. He's presently employed with Chief
Industries Housing Division at BonnaVilla Homes in Aurora, Nebraska, where he is
president and general manager of the housing division. Mr. Henry was unable to attend
the hearing due to a scheduling conflict. Mr. Bill Jackson, executive director of the
Licensing Board, attending on his behalf. The Transportation and Telecommunications
Committee recommends the confirmation. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: I'd ask that we keep the conversations to a minimum so we
can hear. I thank you very much. Senator Fischer, thank you for your opening. You
have heard the opening on the Transportation Committee report. Is there anyone that
wishes to discuss? Senator Fischer, you are recognized to close. Senator Fischer
waives closing. You have heard the closing on the adoption of the report offered by the
Transportation Committee. All those in favor vote yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have
all those voted that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal page 747.) 28 ayes, 0 nays, Mr. President, on
the adoption of the confirmation report. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, next confirmation report. []
CLERK: Mr. President, the final report this morning, offered by Transportation and
Telecommunications Committee, involves a series of appointments to the Nebraska
Information Technology Commission. (Legislative Journal page 699.) []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Fischer, you are recognized
to open on the confirmation report offered by the Transportation and
Telecommunications Committee. []
SENATOR FISCHER: Mr. President, I have a question here. I still have two nominees
for the Nebraska Motor Vehicle Industry and Licensing Board. Did you want me to give
those all at once? []
CLERK: Senator, the three names were on one report. We've adopted that report so all
three have been confirmed at this point. []
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SENATOR FISCHER: Thank you. Next I have a report for the Nebraska Information and
Technology Commission. We have six appointees that were recommended. The first is
Linda Aerni. This is a reappointment. Mrs. Aerni is a graduate of the University of
Nebraska at Kearney and a CEO of Community Internet Systems. She was present at
the hearing. Patrick Flanagan, this is a new appointment. Mr. Flanagan is a graduate of
the University of Nebraska-Omaha and Metropolitan Technical Community College at
Omaha. He's presently employed at Mutual of Omaha and has been employed there the
past 23 years. And he did appear at the confirmation hearing. Lance Hedquist is a new
appointment. Mr. Hedquist was unable to attend the hearing but did send a letter
regarding his background and his views and responsibilities to the commission. Senator
Engel also appeared on Mr. Hedquist's behalf. Mr. Hedquist is a graduate of Wayne
State College and is currently the city administrator for Sioux City, Nebraska. And
Daniel Hoesing, this is a new appointment. Mr. Hoesing received his doctorate degree
from the University of South Dakota in 2005. He's currently the superintendent at
Laurel-Concord Public School in Laurel, Nebraska. Mr. Hoesing appeared before the
committee at the confirmation hearing. The next appointment is Harold Huggenberger.
This is also a new appointment to the commission. Mr. Huggenberger's most recent
degree was from the University of Colorado where he received a master's of science in
interdisciplinary telecommunications. He has been employed at Great Plains
Communication, Blair, Nebraska, since June of 2000. And he did attend the
confirmation hearing. And the last appointment is for Chancellor Doug Kristensen. This
is a reappointment for his second term on the commission. Chancellor Kristensen was
unable to attend the hearing due to previously scheduled commitments but did send a
letter regarding his views as to the commission. Chancellor Kristensen earned his
bachelor's degree in economics and political science from the University of Nebraska
Lincoln and his doctor of jurisprudence from Drake University. And Brenda Decker
appeared on his behalf. The Transportation and Telecommunications Committee
recommends the confirmation of this report. Thank you. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Fischer. You have heard the opening
on the confirmation report offered by the Transportation and Telecommunications
Committee. Is there anyone wishing to speak to the report? Senator Stuthman, you are
recognized. []
SENATOR STUTHMAN: Thank you, Mr. President, members of the body. I want to
speak to the fact of one of the appointees that Senator Fischer had mentioned to, Linda
Aerni. Linda Aerni is from my community and I think she's done a wonderful job, you
know, in her first term. And I would really appreciate if we would, you know, give her the
opportunity to serve another term. Thank you. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Stuthman. Is there anyone else wishing
to speak to the confirmation report? Seeing no lights on, Senator Fischer, you are
recognized to close. Senator Fischer waives closing. You have heard the closing of the
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adoption of the report offered by the Transportation and Telecommunications
Committee. All those in favor vote yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted
that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. []
CLERK: (Record vote, Legislative Journal page 748.) 33 ayes, 0 nays, Mr. President, on
adoption of the report. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The confirmation report is adopted. Mr. Clerk, first item on
General File. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the first bill this morning, LB395, a bill originally introduced by
Senator Johnson. (Read title.) It has been discussed. Yesterday it was discussed, Mr.
President. The first component of the committee amendments were adopted. Starting
this morning the second component is pending, Mr. President, which would be FA16, is
the first piece of business this morning, the second component of the committee
amendments, FA16. (Legislative Journal page 748.) [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. As the Clerk has stated, there are
committee amendments from the Health and Human Services Committee. Senator
Johnson, we've had pretty good discussion yesterday on LB395 itself. I would recognize
you to open on your floor amendment, second component, FA16. Senator Johnson, I
recognize you to open on the second chunk of the committee...component of the
committee amendment. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: All right, FA16, I believe that is right. Is that correct, Mr.
President? Thank you. Mr. President, members of the Chamber, first of all, let me say
that we have had intensive discussions with the people that feel differently about this,
and we would hope to continue working with them. But let's talk here first about
something that we do...and I think we would have an agreement about this section.
What this is, as you might recall, is that the bill was amended so that we were going to
take, I believe it was four different components, and this is the second component of the
divided committee amendment. What this does is it revises the duties of the proprietor
under the act. There are different grammatical changes, and it removes the word
"reasonable" from the rule and the regulation language because it is subjective, and
frankly, it's just not necessary in this context. Let me tell you what is present, and what it
is, is this, is a proprietor shall post a "No Smoking" sign or the international no smoking
symbol clearly and conspicuously at every entrance to a place of employment or public
place where smoking is prohibited under the Nebraska Clean Indoor Act, and shall take
other necessary and appropriate steps to ensure the compliance with such act at such
place. So basically, I would ask--I believe it was Senator Fischer, if she is available, that
if she has had a chance to look this over, that she might comment on if this is
acceptable change in language. I think that she will find that to be the case, but I would
ask her, in particular, if she would agree to this so that we could pass on to other
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language, and obviously I would invite the comments of the other members of the
Chamber, as well. So to get back to what this is, is this, is FA16 under Section 19, it
says this, and I'll repeat it again: A proprietor shall post a "No Smoking" sign or other
international no smoking symbol clearly and conspicuously at every entrance to a place
of employment or public place where smoking is prohibited under the Nebraska Clean
Indoor Air Act, and shall take other necessary and appropriate steps to ensure
compliance with such an act. Again, it changes the grammatical aspect of this and
removes the word "reasonable," because apparently the word "reasonable" is not one
that is commonly present in such language. With that, Mr. President, I would close.
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Johnson. You have heard the opening
on the second component of FA16. The floor is now open for discussion. We have lights
on: Schimek, McDonald, Stuthman. Senator Schimek, you are recognized. Senator
Schimek, you are recognized to speak to the second component, FA16. She waives her
time. Senator McDonald, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: Good morning, Mr. President, members of the body. We have
debated this long and hard, and it appears that there's not going to be an easy
compromise. Those that are standing firm against doing something statewide want local
control. Those that have local control want it done statewide. And those are issues that
were sent here to the Legislature for us to solve, and it's not been easy to solve, and I'm
not sure that we're going to be able to solve it. When it comes to local control, local
control truly is the vote of the people, and anything less is not vote of the people, is not
local control. And so we sent it to our council members--they're put in the same position
that we are, and they're going to be harassed, they're going to be...they're up for
election, also. So they're concerned about their future positions. So we truly want local
control. It only should go back to the vote of the people, the people that it affects the
most, the people that are in the smoking bars that are utilizing those places. They need
to make the decision, no one else. So if we truly want local control, it goes back to the
vote of the people, not council members. Local control is the people, and I support that
wholeheartedly to go back to the vote of the people, and probably nothing less. Thank
you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator McDonald. Senator Stuthman. [LB395]
SENATOR STUTHMAN: Thank you, Mr. President, members of the body. I truly agree
with Senator McDonald, the local control. The local control also, in my opinion, is what it
is--the vote of the people. And I think, realistically, that we have been more or less given
the task, you know, to make a state ban on smoking, to have a level playing field--a very
level playing field. And I think that is what we're attempting to do, but we're running into
a few of the problems. I don't think that allowing a county board, which is
representatives of the people, or a city council, which is representatives of the people,
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but I think that it should go to a vote of the people if we can't come to some agreement
here this morning. I think I'm down here, you know, representing the people of my
community and also representing the people of the state of Nebraska. I'm looking at
what we have gotten in, some of the results of the survey--the health risk. You know, do
we have, you know, health problems because of the smoke? Yes, we do. It has been
proven. We also have health risks from secondhand smoke, people that do not smoke
that are being affected by this. Yes, it's been said that, you know, you don't have to go
to these places that allow smoking. But why can't we go to those places? Those are
some of the comments that I've got for this morning. I know we're trying to utilize a little
bit of time so we can hopefully come up with some type of an agreement that we can
hopefully move forward on this. With that, thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Stuthman. Senator Wightman, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR WIGHTMAN: Thank you, Mr. President, members of the body. Lexington
was in the news yesterday, in that Senator Fischer used Lexington as an example of a
city who had voted by popular vote against the smoking ban. I had a call yesterday from
Lexington city mayor, and he had been listening to the floor debate, as well, and asked
me to step forth his position and the position of the Lexington city council, in that the
Lexington city council has passed a unanimous resolution, five to nothing, asking me to
support the ban. I'm just going to read his letter. On March 5, 2007, the Legislature held
floor debate on LB395. During this discussion Senator Fischer mentioned the failure of
a Lexington ballot issue. I believe it to be important that you know the facts that
contributed to the rejection of this ordinance. This was placed on the ballot by a 3 to 2
vote of the Lexington city council--so I want to point out with 3 to 2 as far as placing it on
the ballot, it's now 5-0 asking me to support this ban--3 to 2 of the Lexington city council,
and this was after the Lexington Economic Development Council asked that the action
be delayed. For the record, I oppose this action based solely on the economics.
Creating a smoke-free island in the statewide sea of smoking, I felt, would place our
businesses at a disadvantage. The other major contributor to the failure was a poorly
informed public. The ordinance was never published in the paper, nor was the language
on the ballot. I'm not sure that's exactly a correct statement, but...the ballot question
read: Shall the smoking ban proposed by the Lexington city council be accepted? I
found these two things to be the strongest reasons for the failure. I would like to note
that the Legislature is correct. We do not like unfunded mandates, but I see no fiscal
note attached to this legislation, and I have not seen cities strongly object to health and
safety issues such as speed limits, seat belts, or alcohol legislation that is solely to
protect Nebraskans from injuring themselves or other Nebraskans. And I think the key
words are probably the last three words: or other Nebraskans. I see this as being--and
I've said this before on the floor on debate on this issue--I see this as being the key
element and difference between other legislation that we've already passed, and I would
like to contrast the seat belt law and the motorcycle helmet law to this bill. Those
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protected only the perpetrator of the act. The smoking ban will protect many other
people who are not in a position to protect themselves, and that includes employees of
establishments that allow smoking, it includes patrons of establishments that allow
smoking. I see this as being an intrusion, certainly, on the personal lives of people
within the state of Nebraska, but I see it being an intrusion with reason, in that we're
protecting other people from the perpetrators of the act. So I would ask for the support
of this body on the smoking ban. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Wightman. Wishing to speak: Senator
White and then Senator Gay. Senator White, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President. I would like to try to bring back focus on
what we're talking about here. And as many of you know, there is a motion pending that
will provide for a statewide smoking ban. And if this motion is adopted, I will personally
vote for it. What it does is creates a statewide ban, but then allows cities and counties in
their respective jurisdictions to make the adjustments necessary so the bill will
work...the ban will work in their local area. I heard Senator McDonald's comments that
only a vote of the people is really local control. Well, we're not a direct democracy. We
haven't been a direct democracy for over 200 years. We are a representative
democracy. And for people to say that they can't withstand the pressure, somehow
we've managed for 200-plus years to muddle on through, despite political pressure far
worse than this. If we're really dedicated to the only way a law can be passed as a vote
of the people, then we have no business taking up a statewide ban in the first place.
That should only occur with a statewide vote of the people. I don't think that's rational. I
think we're here to make hard decisions. I will at...proper time comes and when allowed,
offer a motion that will amend this bill in a manner that allows local control to opt
out--city councils or vote of the people. It will also remove the provisions that make this
a crime, by allowing people to remove it from the record by going through treatment,
because what we're really dealing with is an addiction here. I don't know where Senator
Johnson is with that, but I know Senator Fischer is here. Senator Fischer...and may I
ask, Mr. President, will Senator Fischer please yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Fischer, would you yield to a question from Senator
White? [LB395]
SENATOR FISCHER: Certainly. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Senator Fischer, will you join me in supporting a statewide ban on
smoking if local control for local cities and counties is preserved so they can adjust the
law so it's enforceable in their areas? [LB395]
SENATOR FISCHER: Yes, I will, Senator White. I supported Senator Mines yesterday
on his proposal. I think it's important. The cities currently, through the city council or a
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vote by the people on petition, have the ability to have a smoking ban in their
community. And I believe that we can certainly say that they should have that same
opportunity to allow smoking in certain areas in their city if we pass this state smoking
ban. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Senator Fischer. The other complaint I have heard is
that we will have an unacceptable patchwork. I don't think that's politically realistic. I
think if you look at Senator Johnson's popularity polls of smoking, that I doubt very few,
if any, city councils or counties will choose to do much in the way of exemptions, but
they will have that right. And by having that right, it will make a law like this much more
palatable and acceptable to the public in the state of Nebraska. If, however, ultimately
we find that a patchwork of cities have made exemptions that are creating problems,
there's absolutely nothing to prevent the proponents of this bill from coming back in a
year or two, after the laws have taken effect, to say it's not working, we're having
enforcement problems because of the various cities. At that point in time, we can
address the problem, if it ever exists, though personally, I doubt that it will. I would ask
Senator Karpisek a question, if he would yield. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Karpisek, would you yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR KARPISEK: Yes, thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Senator Karpisek, the folks back in Wilber, would they be more
understanding and acceptable of a statewide ban if they understood they had local
rights to come and petition as a community... [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: ...to decide how the rules should be enforced in their town? [LB395]
SENATOR KARPISEK: I can't speak for all of them, but I would think that they would be
much more favorable to something like that. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Would it be less of a direct order, telling them how to live, other than
a statement--look, this is bad for you; please take it seriously and make adjustments
accordingly? [LB395]
SENATOR KARPISEK: I think so. I think it comes back to the local control issue, where
county boards and city boards do those sorts of things for the people that they take care
of. This state is a very diverse state. What works for one community may not work for all
communities, and I think they should have the opportunity to do that. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President. Thank you, Mr. Karpisek. [LB395]
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SENATOR KARPISEK: Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. Senator Gay, you're recognized.
[LB395]
SENATOR GAY: Thank you, Mr. President. I just wanted to talk a little bit about this
issue of local control. I agree with Senator White. It's a representative democracy.
They...we elect leaders to lead. I looked at this local control, and I've got a letter here
from the State Association of County and City Health Officials, encouraging us to
support this. I've got a letter from the Public Health Association of Nebraska. But we
have numerous...we've all known we're going to deal with this issue in this session, and
you've got your input. But there comes a time where we have to decide and take some
leadership, and I think that's what we're doing here. I appreciate the compromises that
are taking place, I encourage those, and I hope we do come up with something that can
be acceptable, that we can move forward. But the one thing on local control, I think we
talk about this, and I've had communities in our area--Bellevue dealt with this, and they
wanted to see the state take the lead. They had their arguments, and they discussed
it--I think it was a year ago--and they were looking for the Legislature to take a
leadership position on this issue. You heard Senator Wightman talk about his
community. I'm hearing from constituents, city council members in Papillion, asking me
to take leadership on this issue. So I do think there's a time--and I'm not one, of
course...I've been on the county board for 12 years, and I don't like the state telling you
what to do in a lot of instances. But there are certain instances you do want that. So I
don't think you can say one size fits all on this local control issue, because many times
during these debates we're going to hear that issue. If that's the case, let's just write up
some...let's just write up everything and send it to the people to vote on it. So we
shouldn't be doing that. I think here's a chance to take some leadership. We've had the
discussion in committee, we're having it on floor debate. That's what we're here to do.
We're going to draft a good bill. We've been changing this bill, I think, to make it a much
better bill. But it needs to be consistent. It needs some consistency, and that's why I
think we need to take the leadership here. If we don't do this, we're going to have
petition process again, we're going to have communities fighting amongst each other,
citizens coming, fighting amongst each other. I don't think that's good for Nebraska. So I
would encourage us, as we're talking about this local control, to understand local
control. I think they want that; they don't want you spending money for them. They don't
want you creating new programs that they have to implement. To me, that's local
control--don't shove things down our throat. But when it comes to public health,
leadership issues, I think this is an example where we need some consistency
throughout the state. We're all going to use our own judgment on this issue, but when
you look at it, you know, we were sent here to deal with some tough issues. This is one
of those issues, so I hope we will find out. I'm looking forward to any compromises that
may be done. When all is said and done, we've heard debate. We need to take a stand
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and make our call on this issue. Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Gay. Wishing to speak, Senator
Lathrop, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR LATHROP: Thank you, Mr. President, colleagues. I am today...I have not
joined in this debate at this point, or up to this point in time, and I want to today because
we've started to talk about the prospect of a compromise. And before I address the
compromise that Senator White was discussing, I'd like to applaud the effort of Senator
Johnson for bringing this bill to the floor in the first place. I think the idea...personally, I
think the idea of a statewide ban is a good thing. We have seen in Omaha and we have
seen in Lincoln that a smoking ban is something that the people get used to. The bars
don't close, people continue to patronize the businesses that formerly allowed smoking,
and it's generally been a good thing. It's also good for the health of the people of the
state of Nebraska. I think there is a tremendous amount of support for the statewide
ban. I can tell you that my e-mail on this subject and the telephone calls are running
probably 20 to 1 in favor of a ban, and that might be a reflection of the fact that we
already have one in Omaha and that people have gotten used to it. And I think that even
folks that smoke in Omaha have gotten used to stepping outside. And so all in all, I think
the idea of a statewide smoking ban is a good one. On the other hand, as I get a sense
of where LB395 is going, it appears to me that it does not have the support to get past
the filibuster that we are experiencing from the opposition. And Senator White, I think,
and Senator Mines have been thoughtful in their effort to come up with a compromise.
And the compromise would allow for the statewide ban, subject to local communities
opting out, and I think that's a good solution. I would encourage those people who are
supporters of LB395 to support this compromise amendment because I think in the end
it will allow us to get a statewide smoking ban. And my fear is that if we don't accept the
compromise, if we don't accept the amendment that we'll see here in a little bit, that we'll
find ourselves with no statewide smoking ban, and we will have failed the people who
are calling upon us to enact a statewide smoking ban. So today I support the
compromise that we'll see in a little bit from...in the form of an amendment from Senator
White or Mines, and I also appreciate their effort to find a middle ground, to come to
some solution that will allow for a statewide ban, which is better than what we have right
now, which is no ban outside of the city of Omaha and Lincoln. So thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Lathrop. Wishing to speak, we have
Carlson, White, Janssen, and others. Senator Carlson, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CARLSON: Mr. President, members of the body, I want to vote for the
smoking ban. I want to vote for LB395. I'd like the possibility for a county-by-county
election in May of 2008 to accept or reject the smoking ban. I think this discussion is
good. I think to vote for LB395 is a bold step. I'm willing to take that step, but I think that
we need options for communities in the state. This is an issue of public health versus
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property rights and personal choice. And I disagree with a few of our members, in that I
don't think a level playing field has any place in this discussion. This is either a worthy
public health issue that deserves action, or it isn't significant to the degree that action is
required. It has nothing to do with level playing field. Communities and counties need
the option, by vote, to reject the smoking ban. This amendment that we are going to
listen to a little bit later I hope addresses that concern. And with that, I thank you for this
time. I'll listen to the rest of the debate. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Carlson. Senator White, you are
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President. When the motion is actually offered, I'd
ask the...all of the members of this body to seriously consider it. Laws that try to change
human behavior that is really addictive, that's profound like this, cannot work and have
never worked if they're dictated. What does work is a gradual educational approach.
The amendments that we're talking about allow local communities to adjust the law so
they can get enforcement. I think one of the arguments has been that it will allow a
patchwork of laws, and we must have uniformity across the state. I think just the
opposite--I think what happens now is we have a uniform state policy that smoking is
dangerous and should not be allowed, except under specially considered circumstances
that we entrust to local governments. I am very concerned by what I perceive to be in
the body a lack of trust of local governments. That I do not understand. Nebraska has
been uniformly a well-governed state. We have a high level of integrity in public office. I
see no evidence that city councils are overwhelmed by special interests. Instead, what I
see them being is responsive to local needs. Therefore, I'd urge everyone at the
appropriate time to recognize that a statewide smoking ban is in the best interests of the
state, and to vote for it, but to allow the law to be flexible enough that it is workable and
will actually have a chance of achieving its ends. Thank you, Mr. President, for your
time. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. Senator Janssen, you are
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR JANSSEN: Thank you, Senator Langemeier, members of the Legislature. I
haven't spoken too much on this proposal. As a reformed smoker, I don't like smoke. It
does bother me. But you know what I do? I go to the places that are...where there is no
smoking. That's my choice. I look back at what happened several years ago with
Prohibition, when this whole country was a dry country, what happened then. We had
an influx of bootleggers that came into the state. Alcohol was there; it was dangerous, it
was abused. Some say that alcohol is still abused, but we did repeal that. We repealed
the Prohibition. I'm concerned what would happen without this amendment. I think the
amendment is good, that if we had a statewide ban on smoking, people would...they
would find a way to get around that. You would have areas that would be clandestine,
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areas that people would go to, and probably overdo that, get on a smoking binge, if you
might say. That, I think, would be worse. Of course, I'm looking at the real drastic side of
it. But those things could happen. I believe that in some of these smaller communities
where you have one restaurant or one liquor license in a small town, it would be
devastating. I know the opposition says, all right, then you can go somewhere else. Yes,
you can, but those smaller communities, which I have quite a few of, some of the bars
and restaurants allow smoking, others segregate the lounge from the dining area, which
works. The city of Omaha, they left the keno parlors as smoking, as I understand. Can
you imagine what it must be like in those keno parlors, where all the people who want to
go out and get something to eat and play keno, the fog in there must be terrific. And I
don't think it would be...if they wouldn't have imposed this smoking ban in Omaha, you
wouldn't have had that severe of atmosphere. I know you have the choice. You can
either go into those places or not. But I think it's up to the people's choice, and they are
elected city and county officials. I'm afraid I can't support this unless we do have the
amendment that has been talked over here this morning. I think that's the only way that
you are going to be able to get this piece of legislation through the body this year. With
that, I would give the rest of my time back to the Chair. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Janssen. Speaker Flood, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SPEAKER FLOOD: Thank you, Mr. President, members. We have the amendment
ready to be filed, and I wanted to lay out for you the procedure that we're going to be
going through here, with your consent, in the next couple of minutes. Senator Mines, I
want to credit him for working very hard on trying to bring, to the best of his ability, both
sides of LB395 to the table. Although he is not here right now, we are going to be
considering an amendment that was the outgrowth of his efforts. In just a moment,
Senator Johnson is going to file an amendment to FA16, which essentially--and I'll let
him describe it; and Senator White has been very involved in this, he may be the actual
introducer--that's essentially going to strike everything that we've done to date. And this
amendment, the Mines compromise on General File, will be hopefully adopted and
move this bill to Select File. That said, I don't want to give anybody the idea that Senator
Johnson is going lay down his opposition to some of the technical changes and, most
specifically, the opt-out provisions in the Mines compromise. But it is my hope that we
will have some time between now and Select File to continue the discussions between
both sides of LB395. And it will be a new discussion on Select File. I would ask that if
you have your light on, to move this along this morning, you consider taking it off for just
a little while, listen to both sides discuss what they like about this compromise, and
certainly you'll hear a few references to the fact there are things to work on. That said,
it's also my understanding that those that have amendments filed to LB395 will be
withdrawing the same amendments and reoffering the same on Select File. I think we're
at a point on this issue where it's time to make a decision as to where we're going to go
as a body, and this compromise offered by Senator Mines gives the Legislature the
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opportunity to move this to Select File in a way that the opponents are more comfortable
with the direction of the policy. That said, I will sit down and listen to the discussion
about the amendment that is soon to be filed to FA16. Thank you, Mr. President.
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Speaker Flood. Mr. Clerk, you have an
amendment. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, Senator White would move to amend the second component of
the committee amendments with AM593. (Legislative Journal pages 748-752.) [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator White, you're recognized to
open on AM593. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: We've largely discussed this. I won't belabor the point, but with this
amendment we will achieve a statewide smoking ban now. It preserves local control so
that local jurisdictions can alter the law so it fits their circumstances, and it can be
effectively enforced. I urge all of the members to vote for this. If this law...this bill
continues to embody the Mines amendment, I will personally vote for it; not only now,
but also to advance it from Select to Final Reading. I thank the body for their attention to
this matter, I thank Senator Mines for his work, and I thank Senator Johnson for his
cooperation and courtesy throughout, and also Senator Fischer for her hard work and
courtesy. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. You've heard the opening on
AM593. Now we return to discussion of AM593. Senator Chambers, you are
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Mr. President, members of the Legislature, in order that I can
understand what is going on, I would like to ask Senator White a question. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question from Senator
Chambers? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Yes, I will, sir. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Senator White, is this the great compromise that has been
discussed? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: No, Senator, this is, like most compromises, really not that palatable
to anybody. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: So this is not the one that Senator Mines... [LB395]
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SENATOR WHITE: Oh, it is. I'm sorry. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: This is Senator Mines' amendment? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I thought you were just asking if it was a great deal. I was
commenting on that. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Oh, okay. Thank you. That's all I will ask. Members of the
Legislature, as happened when this bill was discussed the last time, I did not participate
in the discussion. I wanted to listen and see if my colleagues had learned anything
about how things are done when significant legislating is underway. I heard some
notions that are very parochial, narrow-minded, and limited. When rights are discussed,
that debate ought to deal with those things that are grand, that are expansive, that have
significance to the human condition. When you talk about rights that are going to be
found in the pantheon of those, for example, inalienable human rights, you're not going
to find smoking among them. You're not going to find what is called the right to foul and
pollute the air that other people breathe. You're not going to find a so-called right to be
uncivil, rude, and coarse. You're not going to find what Senator White tried to argue so
forcefully for yesterday--the right to have an addiction and impose your weakness on
other people. Those who are going to buy that argument today are going to argue about
the need for people to assume personal responsibility when we get to other matters.
These smokers don't want to assume the personal responsibility for their individual,
personal weakness. Instead, they want society to accommodate them. Why make cars
have devices to restrict the amount of exhaust that goes into the atmosphere? It's your
car. You should be able to do what you want to with it. Senator White is talking about
how great these local political subdivisions are. There are people who have been
involved in politics longer than Senator White who have observed the way various city
councils have been bullied into granting liquor licenses which ought not to have been
granted, and people would have to go to the state, and sometimes the state would not
grant the license because it should not have been granted. So there is nothing about
local government which is worthy of the kind of accolades that Senator White was laying
out this morning. It is easier to bully a local subdivision. And that's why when it comes to
guns and other things, the special interest groups want to leave it to the locals and not
allow the state to preempt. I heard somebody talking in a very parochial way the other
day. It was almost like the attitude of a small town, narrow-minded mayor who deals
with small things like dogs barking, people not shoveling their snow, and will not realize
that when we come to this Legislature, we are the lawmakers. What we do goes into the
statute books, not in some little ordinance book... [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: ...which is so complicated to the locals that they hire outside
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agencies to revise their ordinance books. And as a result, there are contradictory
ordinances in their ordinance books. I've seen it happen in Omaha, which is the largest
municipal government in the state. I heard somebody talking about, don't let the
government be sticking their nose in people's business. Well, I saw where in New York
the government stuck its nose in the business of KFC, the ones who run Kentucky Fried
Chicken, because in one of their restaurants the people love rats and they allowed the
rats to have the run of the place, just like the two-footed rats. And the government came
in, stuck their nose in that man's personal business, and shut it down. When people talk
about property rights, they don't even know what they're talking about. They need to
take an elementary course in the limitations on the rights that a person has to property.
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers. Senator Johnson, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: Mr. President, members of the body, I always hate to follow
Senator Chambers. You can't be very eloquent following what he has to say. But let me
just kind of try and simplify what we're trying to do here this morning, and I do want to
compliment particularly Senator White. I've also been working for the past several days
with Senator Mines. He is not able to be here today, so that we also had the problem of
changing horses in the middle of the stream here. Nonetheless, we have been able to
work together, and let me just kind of tell you what the main bone of contention is that
still exists. And what it is, is this, and I'm actually using the paper that Senator Mines
gave to us to look at. And here's what it says about this ban that we're talking about. In
regard to cities, it can be put on the ballot by initiative by the voters. Obviously, we'd
have no problem with that. It could be put on the ballot by a vote of the governing body,
the city council as an example. Again, this would seem to be acceptable. But here is
where the real problem comes in: The governing body can vote itself to opt out. And our
question here is, is whereas our opponents would say that this is representative
government, we would suggest that here, three people on a city council might be
making the decisions, and would it not be better to have a vote of the people? But that's
the question. And in regard to our counties, it's a very similar situation, where we have
county boards. Would they be the ones to make the decision or, again, the vote of the
people? We're still working on this. There are other things, as far as when these votes
could take place and that type of thing, but these...I think the ones that I outlined are the
main difficulties that we're working to overcome. Now what I'd like to do at this point in
time is say let's vote for this amendment. Let's vote for this amendment, advance the bill
to Select File. That will give us a chance to keep working on a compromise, and the
amendment that Senator White has offered. I have many disagreements with this and
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do not in any way at this point in time want to indicate that I am in agreement with
Senator White's amendment. But I do want you to please advance this to Select File, so
that we can move on with the other business that this Legislature should be conducting
itself towards, so let us work and continue to work on this. So if you would please vote
for this amendment, and those of you that feel like those of us, and many of the
expressions Senator Chambers just referred to, we will deal with those another day. So
we would ask your support of this amendment. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Johnson. Wishing to speak, we have
Schimek, Kruse, Chambers, Wallman, McDonald. (Doctor of the day introduced.)
Senator Schimek, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: Yes. Thank you, Mr. President and members. I haven't really
weighed in on this issue lately, and I do want to ask some questions about the
amendment that has been presented to us. And Senator White, if I could...would
Senator White yield to a question or two? [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Yes, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: Thank you, Senator White. My questions are probably geared
towards knowing where Lincoln would come out in all this, because as you know,
Lincoln has adopted such ordinance. And if I could go over the language with you a little
bit, in Section 23 on page 6, it would be helpful. And it says that in any city or village
which had an ordinance with respect to smoking regulation in effect on January 1, 2007,
the provisions of such ordinance shall supersede the provisions of this act until June 1,
2009. Then beginning June 1, 2009, in such city or village, the ordinance shall continue
in effect unless...and then it goes through a litany of ways that it could be undone. So
what I want in the record here is, is this would only stay in effect...well, it could stay in
effect forever, unless the governing body acts in a different manner. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: My understanding of it is, and again, this went through that "Never
Never Land" of bill drafting, Senator, so...but as I understand the intent of the
amendment, the intent of it is that we respect what the city of Lincoln has done. The
state will do nothing to undo it, unless the city of Lincoln acts itself, either by vote of the
people or by vote of the city council. The intent is to respect the local control of the cities
that have already acted on smoking and found that balance. The law just leaves them
be, whatever they've done. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: And I think this amendment also preserves the right of the local
council or board that hasn't adopted such amendment. It preserves their right to do
something even more stringent than the statewide ban that would be in effect after this
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act passes; is that correct? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Absolutely. I mean, that's what local control is. They can judge their
environment and their situation. They can be more strict than the state; they can be
less. They could make, by ordinance, this to be an offense far more serious than the
state law. They have a wide variety of ability to enact laws to protect a community as
they see fit. That's the point of it. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: In some ways I'm attracted to this amendment, and I don't know
where I will eventually land. I did hear Senator Johnson's concern about the
amendment, but one of my concerns might be somewhat more practical in a way. What
happens if the statewide ban goes into effect and a town in a county decides that they
will undo the ban because then they will attract more business to the town? Does that
upset the apple cart? Then do other towns around have to do likewise? Are we making
this so permissive that it's going to get into this whole competition for business aspect
again,... [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: ...which I think we're trying to undo with the statewide ban?
[LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, no, I would disagree that we are doing that. I mean, right now
the cities and counties can make it and completely prohibit it, and a number of them
have done that--Omaha, Lincoln, despite those political pressures. I think what this does
is tell the state, look, statewide it's presumed that you're not going to smoke. I doubt
there will be very many cities or counties that actually do opt out. That's my personal
belief. And should that ultimately become a problem, Senator, and we do see that
situation developing, that this hasn't been used responsibly, there's nothing to prevent
us as a body from revisiting it in a couple of years and saying it's not working because,
you know, we're getting competition. [LB395]
SENATOR SCHIMEK: That's a good point, Senator White. So I guess in closing my
remarks, I'm going to keep my mind open to this, but I do have some questions in the
back of my mind as to whether it would work adequately or not. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Schimek. Senator Kruse, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR KRUSE: Thank you, Mr. President and colleagues. I have not spoken on this
issue, been listening intently. I find this part of the debate a very strange thing. I...local
option on public health? How do we do that? I don't know how you even discuss it, and I
certainly will not be able to participate in the voting on this particular piece. I am all for
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local option, and I certainly honor those that are trying to work for it. But it's got to be a
true option, and I don't see how you have an option on health. I certainly do not trust a
town council to represent local option. I've seen too many of those. A town council is
going to be under the influence of a major local bar, especially if they're near a large
city, in order to draw some business. That is not a health decision. City councils are
regularly contacting us, asking that it not be local option, starting with Omaha before
they adopted this. They asked us to adopt a statewide ban. They asked us during their
deliberation. They made it very clear that they knew that the public of Omaha wanted a
ban, but they had reasons to be fearful of making that decision. If we are to have local
option on public health, why don't we have local option on the temperature of meat
coolers. Put that up to a vote, you know. You will talk about state mandates; that's
statewide, that's a mandate. You're supposed to have your locker and cooler in a
restaurant at a particular temperature. I can imagine a lot of restaurant owners would
fuss with that, say, well, I think it would be better six degrees higher. It would age the
meat better or something. You know, they...we are very creative people and we can
come up with all kinds of excuses for our opinion. There's a possibility of having local
option on clean water, if that's what we want to do. You know, most of the cities are not
going to pollute because we say they ought not to pollute. But let's make that a local
option so that some village out here says, well, we can pollute, and they're the one town
on this stream that pollutes, but it's a local option, as though that doesn't affect
somebody else or as though that's something that could be up to a vote. Again, I do not
understand how we can seriously talk about local option when it's a matter of health.
The evidence is extremely clear. There's no debate...I haven't heard a bit of debate
about that. It is a question of whether or not we take our stand with our people. I will
oppose the so-called local option. I will favor moving it on to Select. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Kruse. Senator Chambers, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you. Mr. President, members of the Legislature, I would
like to ask Senator White a question or two, since he seems to be a strong advocate of
personal rights. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I would. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Senator White, do you believe there is such a thing as a
female human being? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I think there are human beings, Senator. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Do you think there are female human beings in the state of
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Nebraska? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I think there are human beings, some of whom are male and some
of whom are female. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Do you believe that a female has the right to use her body in
the way she chooses? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, I guess you can't answer anything completely openly like that,
so I guess I would say, in general, yes. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Does a woman have a right to engage in sex with whomever
she pleases if she is of age? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: No. No, she doesn't. She does not have the right to engage in sex
with minors. She does not have the right to engage in sex if she contains communicable
diseases that could injure others. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: So let's remove minors and let's remove communicable
disease. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: That's the problem with big principles, Senator. We start out with a
mountain and we end up with a pile of sand. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Let's continue, though, because we want to get down to the
nub of this right that a woman would have. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Some of us wish to get to the nub. Others of us are just tap
dancing, Senator. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Senator White, Senator "Fred Astaire" White (laughter), does
a consenting woman have a right to engage in sex with a consenting man? These are
both adults. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Under certain circumstances; for example, not in public, certainly
she does. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: It they are in their own bedroom, in the privacy of their
bedroom or a hotel room? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, yes, unless they're smoking, in which case, given the original
bill (laugh), we could break the door down to find out. [LB395]
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SENATOR CHAMBERS: Since you're one who believes in rights, you're doing an awful
lot of temporizing, which I'm going to try to get you away from, but since I won't, I'm
going to deal with the issue, because Senator White does not want to answer the
questions, and I'm not going to waste all of my time. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: (Laugh). [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: That's all I'll ask you, Senator White. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Senator Chambers. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: He might know what I'm getting to, and he may not. He is so
defensive about the fallacious arguments he has given that he is afraid to put himself in
a position where he might think their falsity will be clear, even to him, and it will come
out of his own mouth, but I'm not going where he thinks I'm going. If a woman engages
in sex with a man and she doesn't charge money for it, it's not against the law. If she
gives sex free, it's not against the law. She can have sex with ten men in a day, and it's
not against the law. But if she charges a dollar, then that is called prostitution and it's
against the law. So what the men who govern this society have said, if a woman is
willing to give herself and her favors free to a man, it's not against the law. But if she's
going to earn money doing it, then it's against the law. Then it's against the law. That's
the hypocrisy that we deal with, and Senator White probably knew where I was going,
and he knew that it would show the falsity of all these nonsensical things he's saying.
Smoking is not a right that is untouchable. It's a right as long as the state allows it. It's
not a human right; it's not a right that a person has because he or she is a human being.
But why is it that if a woman gives her body away, men say that's all right and it's not
against the law. But if she's going to earn money,... [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: ...then men have passed laws that say it is against the law.
Why is that? Because this is one of the most hypocritical societies you can find, and
Senator White has sat there with all his knowledge and let these nonsensical
statements be made about personal property when he knows that ownership of property
is like a bundle of sticks. You have certain of those sticks which are yours. Others are in
the hands of the state or society at large. You never own property absolutely. If you
owned property absolutely, nobody could even tax it. You could not have a village
taxing the king's castle. You could not have a group of earls and dukes, and put all of
them together and they would tax the king's lands. The king owns everything. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers. Wishing to speak, we have
Wallman, McDonald, White, Friend, and others. Senator Wallman, you're recognized.
[LB395]
SENATOR WALLMAN: Thank you, Mr. President and others. Thank you, Senator
Chambers. I thought it's ironic. We've mentioned about property, we've mentioned about
cigarettes, and we tax cigarettes. And what do we use that money for? We heard it this
morning--education. So let's use that cigarette money for education, and educate
others. But I'm just going to talk a little bit here, and I support this amendment to the bill,
even though I have trouble with it. But I'll support this amendment. And thank you, Mr.
President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Wallman. Senator McDonald. Senator
McDonald, you are recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: Mr. President and members of the body, I'd like to ask Senator
White a question. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I will. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: Looking at this synopsis of the amendment,... [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Yes. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: ...under number two, the act would become effective June 1,
2008. Why the delay? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, a couple of reasons; primarily, so that city councils can review
the law, find time, build a consensus, and see what they should do. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: And normally, we pass a statute, it becomes law 90 days after
session; is that correct? [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I think so. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: So we could actually, if this moved to Final Reading, it could
probably be...the Governor could sign it, say in a month, and we're looking at over a
year...almost a year and a half, or a year and a couple of months for them to review it.
Do you think that's adequate time? [LB395]
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SENATOR WHITE: I think it's adequate time. [LB395]
SENATOR McDONALD: I guess I disagree with Senator White. I think waiting till June
1, 2008, is more than enough time. And what happens is, they have the opportunity to
opt out before it even goes into effect, and I think that disputes the whole reason for the
statewide smoking ban. I think this is a smoke screen to allow them to opt out before it
ever goes into effect. I'm going to give the rest of my time to Senator Chambers.
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator McDonald. Senator Chambers; 3, 30.
[LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Senator McDonald. Thank you, Mr. President.
Members of the Legislature, and at this point on this issue, I've got to say like I do on my
program when I take a call, friends...I start, brothers, sisters, friends, enemies, and
neutrals. I've got to lay on what these opponents keep saying. Senator White wants to
elevate an addiction to the level of a right, to impose a nasty habit upon others, to
impose somebody's weakness and flaw upon others. Rather than make them assume
personal responsibility for their flaw, for their addiction, and keep it away from others, he
wants to say they have the right to impose it on others and those others have no right to
speak against it. That is preposterous. He knows, though he may not admit it, that the
state has what are called police powers. These powers put the state in a position to
enact laws to protect the health and the welfare of the citizenry at large. We are not a
village board. We are not a city council. We are not a PTA. We are not a high school
debate society. And people stand up here and talk about their little feelings getting hurt
because they're chastised when they make a statement, meaning they think
everybody's got to go along with them, even when they make no sense. Maybe on the
city council, or maybe a small town mayor can expect that from his small town,
parochial friends, but that's not going to happen on the floor of the Legislature. If you
jump in the ring, what did the referee say in every fight you've ever seen on television?
Protect yourselves at all times. Don't get in here and you've got the gloves on and you
want to punch somebody, then you don't want them to punch back. I expect people to
deal with me the way I deal with them. Now Senator White is not the one I have in mind
when I'm saying people get up here and whine about being chastised and disagreed
with. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: But Senator White is very disingenuous in some of the
positions that he takes, and we're going to discover that as we get to other issues during
the session. If he indeed thinks that people's addiction gives them rights to impose a
hurtful practice on others, then that should be his philosophy throughout. But it's that
way, I'm sure, only when it comes to smoking. I haven't heard my friend Senator
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Christensen speak today. But he believes in the state meddling in people's business. He
thinks the state should stick its nose into the issue when two people can get married,
and put a fine on them if they don't do it the way he thinks they ought to do it. Now you
tell me that's not the government sticking its nose in people's business. And I have a
few more things that I intend to say, and I'm not going to be upset if somebody
challenges me or attacks me. If I can't stand this heat, I shouldn't be in the kitchen.
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers and Senator McDonald.
Wishing to speak, we have Friend, Erdman, Chambers, White and others. Senator
Friend, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR FRIEND: Thank you, Mr. President and members of the Legislature. This
has gotten to the point--and it usually does for the amount of time that we put into these
issues, particular issues--it's gotten to the point where we have an opportunity to create
a very viable mess, and not to imply AM593 is a mess, that amendment to FA16. But I
think we always have to step back and ask ourselves why have we gotten to this point.
Why have we gotten to this point where we're talking about local opt-outs? That's
specifically what we're talking about with the amendment. When I sat on Judiciary
Committee, we had folks come in and testify and brag to the committee and then run off
and brag to the newspapers about how the Legislature didn't have the guts to deal with
the smoking issue, so we as a community have dealt with it. I'm not going to tell you
who those people were, but it happened more than once. I think the thing that was most
offensive about that, and I've said this before on the record, is that when the Legislature
decides not to do something, that's action, too. That is action. I've said that twice--I'll say
it three times, I'll say it ten times. When we decide not to implement something, that is
action by a 49-person body. Make no mistake about that. Have somebody come up to
one of you out on this floor and tell you, after the two days that you've put in here, that
you haven't done anything. That is offensive. Here's where this is leading. LB395 and
AM593 are in, in a lot of ways, total contrast. We are either taking the bull by the horns
as far as statewide public policy, or we're not. Now for years I always came to the
conclusion, and maybe it was my own conclusion, based on the limited knowledge that I
chose to try to gain from the subject matter, but I always came to the conclusion that in
this environment, when you're talking about smoking, the free market could drive this
type of behavior. The free market would say, you could walk in and tell somebody look, I
don't like the smoke in here. Next thing you know, the proprietor is saying, hmm, I'm
losing business. But we're past that. When Lincoln and Omaha decided to go about
things and take their proverbial bull by the horns and do what they needed to do, as far
as what they felt like they needed to do anyway, they claim they did it because of our
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inaction. I laughed at them and I said, what you don't understand is, our inaction is
action, and until you come into this body and deal with that, you don't get it. So here's
what I'd say about AM593--it is action. So is LB395. That's action. We're making some
public policy for the entire state, but if this amendment and this bill don't pass, that's
action, too. You know what kind of message we're sending? Why even have AM593?
That's my point. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR FRIEND: If AM593 passes, if we adopt that to LB395, why pass a bill?
Because Lincoln and Omaha have already taken action, and other cities will. Why pass
this bill, if this amendment gets adopted? And I know you're going to...some of you who
know me are going to find that very strange, that I'm talking about an amendment like
AM593 and saying, I don't like it. Well, it's like that clown that I talked about (laugh)
when my daughter came home and told me that joke. This amendment tastes funny; it
tastes very funny, because it doesn't...I'm not sure it does a thing, and maybe that's
what the opponents want. I don't like LB395, but I think we're in a position,
unfortunately, that we're going to have to deal with this subject matter, if not now, next
year. If not next year, the year after. But LB395 shouldn't succeed if we adopt AM593,...
[LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR FRIEND: ...because that's the inaction that I'm talking about in the end.
Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Friend. Senator Erdman, you're
recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Question. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The question has been called. Do I see five hands? I do see
five hands. The question is, shall debate cease? All those in favor vote yea; all those
opposed vote nay. Has everyone voted that wishes to? Senator Erdman, for what
purpose do you rise? [LB395]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Mr. President, I request a call of the house, please. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: There has been a request to place the house under call.
The question is, shall the house go under call? All those in favor vote yea; all those
opposed vote nay. Record, Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: 32 ayes, 0 nays to place the house under call, Mr. President. [LB395]
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The house is under call. Senators, please record your
presence. Those senators outside the Chamber please return to the Chamber and
record your presence. All unauthorized personnel please leave the floor. The house is
under call. Senators, the house is under call. Senator Johnson, Senator Hudkins,
Senator Chambers, would you check in? Senator Preister, Senator Raikes, Senator
Kruse, the house is under call. Please return to the Chamber. Senator Aguilar. Senator
Heidemann, would you please return to the Chamber? The house is under call. Senator
Preister, would you please return to the Chamber as well? The house is under call. All
senators are checked in or accounted for. Senator Erdman, how do you wish to
proceed? Senator Erdman requests...accepts call-ins. The question is, shall debate
cease? Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: Senator Kruse voting yes. Senator Preister voting yes. Senator Burling voting
yes. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Record, Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: 28 ayes, 6 nays, Mr. President, to cease debate. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Debate does cease. Senator White, you are recognized to
close on AM593. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President, and I ask the members to advance, to
adopt this amendment so that we can advance a smoking ban across the state. I
disagree that it does nothing. It actually changes the presumption across the state of
Nebraska where right now, if nothing is done, there is smoking. We change that across
the state and we put the message out that smoking is not permitted in public places
unless specific limited exemptions are cut out by city councils or county commissioners.
The question on the delay that Senator McDonald raised is an interesting question. That
delay is there so we can have a vote of the people, which Senator McDonald was
arguing for. She said we need to have local control, which means votes of the people.
Well, you need time to organize an election, educate the voters so they can make that
informed decision. This bill provides for that. Senator Chambers is an incredible
advocate; however, when he gets to tell people what my case is, I don't even need a
jury. I lose before I even get started. In all due respect, Senator, I'd like to lose my own
case, thank you very much. I do not find that smoking is a constitutional right. I do think,
however, the right to control one's property and how it is used and what is used is a
right we have regularly recognized. Now do we have the right to move in on that?
Certainly we do. We have zoning rights. We have police rights. And I understand and
appreciate that. However, when you're dealing with a behavior that is addictive, when
you are dealing with the right to control one's own property, control one's own business,
it is an area we should move slowly and carefully in, and with caution. This amendment
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is a dramatic step forward for the state of Nebraska. I will be able, and you will be able,
to vote for a statewide smoking ban. If we have a problem subsequently that the city
councils, that the county commissioners are not acting responsibly in what, if any,
exemptions they make, and I doubt that will be the case, we can easily adjust that in a
year or two. The idea that if I don't get everything I want then there's nothing at all worth
having is not fit for mature democracy. It is not fit for people who find that their common
ground is reached through cooperation and compromise. This bill is a compromise.
There are many aspects of it I don't like, but I will vote for it and I urge you to do the
same. Thank you. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. You have heard the closing on
AM593. The question is, shall the amendment to the committee amendment, LB395, be
adopted? All those in favor vote yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted
that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: 28 ayes, 4 nays, Mr. President, on the adoption of the amendment to the
committee amendments. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The amendment is adopted. With that, I do raise the call.
[LB395]
CLERK: I have nothing further pending to this component of the committee
amendments, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. We return back to discussion on the
floor on FA16. We have a number of lights on. Wishing to speak: Senator Chambers,
White, Stuthman, and Johnson. Senator Chambers, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Mr. President, I'm going to support the movement of this bill to
Select File. I tried to vote for the amendment that was just before us, but I couldn't. My
finger simply wouldn't go to that green button, so it slipped over to the red and voted no,
but it was inconsequential because there were more than enough votes to adopt the
amendment. Senator White understands, as a lawyer, that the opposing counsel is
going to analyze, evaluate, and attack the fallacious, weak, wrongheaded position of the
lawyer on the other side, and all of those words that I used describe what Senator White
has been doing on this bill. First of all, I didn't say he suggested that the addiction to
smoking or smoking itself is a constitutional right. I said they're trying to elevate it to the
level of a right, not just to be addicted, not just to smoke. You have a right to be stupid.
Senator White pointed that out early on. But you don't have a right to inflict the
consequences of your stupidity on others. I tell you again, in Omaha I can't burn leaves
that fall off my trees on my own property. That property is mine. The trees are mine. The
leaves are mine. But when those leaves fall to the ground and I rake them in a pile, I
cannot burn them without being in violation of the law. So where does my right to private
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property goes? Senator White knows what I'm talking about when I suggest that there
are people on this floor who do not understand the limits to what is called private
property. He allows that ignorance to go forward. Those of us who know better have an
obligation to share our knowledge with our colleagues. There are matters related to
farming which I don't know as much about as my colleagues, and I'm not resentful when
they explain to me things that happen in farming which may have a bearing on what
we're doing as legislators. I appreciate the fact that they bring the information, but it
shouldn't be false. I follow the methodology that I think is appropriate for me to use on
the floor of this Legislature. Other people can choose to do what they want to, but I'm
not going to just sit back and let what they say go by without challenge when I think it's
fallacious. Smoking needs to be banned in the way that the original form of LB395
contemplates, but sometimes to be strategic means that you give up a tactical position.
Tactics relate to these little brush fires. Strategy relates to the overall plan for fighting
the war. You can lose a tactical battle without in any way weakening your ability to win
the war. You might even allow that to happen to make your opponent show what he has
got. So Senator Johnson is thinking strategically this morning. You all have heard the
children's rhyme, he who laughs and runs away will live to laugh another day. They say
that a live dog is better than a dead lion, and that's true. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: What has happened on this bill is the power of the tobacco
industry and the terrible devastation it reeks on this society being made manifest. I have
family members who smoked, and some who still do, but you think I'm going to do what
I can to facilitate that? I don't preach to them about what they do because they're grown,
but don't let them ask me, don't let them do it in a set of circumstances where it's
appropriate for me to comment. But they know what my view is and I will never do what
Senator White is trying to do here--make these addicted people feel like they don't have
to take responsibility for their flaw, for their failing, for their coarsening of society, for
their incivility. They blow smoke where other people have to breathe who do not smoke,
and they think they have the right to do it. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers. Senator White, you are
recognized. This is your third time on this portion. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President. At this time I would urge that this bill be
advanced to Select File. I have made an agreement with Senator Johnson and I would
ask the Chair if Senator Johnson would yield to a question. [LB395]
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Johnson, would you yield to a question? [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: Certainly. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: Senator Johnson, do you agree that at this point the bill is in the
shape that we have discussed and should be advanced to Select File for the
negotiations? [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: Yes, sir, we do have that agreement to advance it to Select File,
and work to resolve our differences particularly regarding the votes and so on that we've
talked about here this morning. [LB395]
SENATOR WHITE: I thereby urge the members of the body to vote to advance the bill
to Select File. Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. Wishing to speak, Senator
Stuthman, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR STUTHMAN: Thank you, Mr. President and members of the body. I'd like to
yield my time to Senator Chambers. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Chambers, you're recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Senator Stuthman. Thank you, Mr. President.
Members of the Legislature, we're dealing with as critical a public health problem as we
will confront and it's being discussed by some people in the same way you would
discuss the right, if you want to call it that, to license a vehicle. And when it comes to
driving a car, courts have said that's a privilege, not a right. Some of us have seen the
ravages of cancers produced from smoking; others have not. Yul Brynner, the late Yul
Brynner, portrayed roles on the screen of the viral, macho man, but he was weak. He
could not resist the thing that would take his life, so what he did, because he was too
weak to overcome that devastating habit of smoking, was to make a public service spot
that would be played on television only after that demon tobacco had taken his life, and
he started with words to the effect, when you see this, or, if you see this I am no longer
here; I am dead and what killed me is smoking. But he didn't have the strength to resist
it. Smoking meant more to him than life itself. There are people to whom smoking
means more to them than life itself. Take your own life. You can do that. It's right there
in the constitution. If you have the right to life, you have the right to give up your life.
Jesus told you, you can give up your life, but he didn't say give it up to tobacco. He said
if you give up your life for your friend. He didn't say take the life of your friend through
your addictive, lethal habit. What people are arguing on this floor is that those people
who manifest incivility should feel nothing is wrong with it when to do so is to put in
jeopardy not just the health but the life of other people who have not done anything to
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harm them. But they will do the harm. They perform the work of a pathogen, of a virus,
of a bacterium. Tell me a single disease in this country that kills as many people as
smoking does. They are more virulent than anthrax bacillus. And they're proud of it.
They walk around here saying, I got the right to smoke whenever I want to, wherever I
want, by God. Then these other sniveling people who know better say, well, that's right,
they have a right to smoke. I don't think so and I will speak my mind without apologizing,
because they are disregarding the health and the rights of others. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: And have people on this floor talking about what will you do
next, ban drinking? That's that juvenile, adolescent nonsense. People have to
understand that now they have graduated from elementary school when they get into
the Legislature. Tom Osborne found out that he, when he left coaching and Nebraska
and went to the U.S. House, he was just 1 of 435 and did nothing of any consequence
while he was there. But in Nebraska, he's a demigod. Well, maybe if you're a mayor or a
member of the village board in your little corner of the meadow, you're a big duck in a
little pond. Here you're a water bug on the surface of Lake Michigan. You got to grow
up. You got to improve your mind, use your brains, use your brains. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers and Senator Stuthman.
Senator Johnson, you are recognized. You are the last light. You're recognized to close
or speak. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: I'll choose to close, sir. Mr. President, is my mike on? Okay. Mr.
President, members of the Legislature, it's been an interesting morning with a lot of
maneuvering going on. I think one of the things I should tell you is where we're at here.
And what FA16 is, is really kind of a cleanup part of the originally divided portions that
we took over on the first day or so that this bill came into being on this floor. Let me just
tell you what it is again, is it makes it so that the...it's about the symbolism, the "No
Smoking" signs, that type of thing which I think we would all be in agreement on its own.
Don't believe that anyone spoke to the contrary about this, and it was used as a vehicle
for the compromise that Senator White and myself and others have come to an
agreement on. And again, I think if we're going to thank anyone this morning, we should
thank the hard work of Senator Flood. Our Speaker has worked very diligently to get us
to a point where at least we can advance to Select File, and so personally want to thank
him for that and I'm sure the others would as well. With that, I would ask that we would
advance FA16. Thank you. [LB395]
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Johnson. You have heard the closing
on FA16, the second component of the committee amendments. The question before
the body is, shall the committee amendments to LB395 be adopted? All those in favor
vote yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted that wish to? Record, Mr.
Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: 31 ayes, 0 nays, Mr. President, on the adoption of the second component of
the committee amendments. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: The second component is adopted. Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the third component is FA17. Two amendments to that: Senator
Johnson, the first is AM345. I have a note, Senator, you'd like to withdraw that at this
time. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: That is correct, sir. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: It is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Senator Johnson, I now have FA14, which was an amendment to the third
component. I understand you want to withdraw that as well, Senator. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: Sir. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: It's withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, Senator Johnson would ask unanimous consent to withdraw
FA17, which is the third component of the committee amendments. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Are there any objections to the withdrawal of the third
component, FA17? Seeing no objections, it is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the fourth component is FA18. Senator Johnson, I note that you
would like to withdraw that and ask unanimous consent to do so, sir. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: That is correct. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Are there any objections to the withdrawal of FA18, the
fourth component? Seeing none, it is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the fifth and final component of the committee amendments,
FA20, Senator Johnson would ask unanimous consent to withdraw. [LB395]
33

Transcript Prepared By the Clerk of the Legislature
Transcriber's Office
Floor Debate
March 06, 2007

SENATOR JOHNSON: That is correct. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you. Are there any objections to the withdrawal of
FA20, the fifth and final component? Seeing none, it is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, I now have a series of amendments to the bill. The first is
Senator Johnson, AM321, Senator. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Johnson. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: I would ask that be withdrawn and refiled. [LB395]
CLERK: The next amendment, Mr. President, to the bill, Senator Nantkes. I had a note,
Senator, you wanted to withdraw AM340. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Nantkes. [LB395]
SENATOR NANTKES: That's correct. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: It is withdrawn. Thank you. [LB395]
CLERK: The next amendment, Mr. President, Senator Rogert. Again, I had an note from
Senator Rogert that he wished to withdraw, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Rogert. [LB395]
SENATOR ROGERT: Yeah, that is correct. Thank you, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: It is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the next amendment I have was by Senator Erdman. Senator,
FA22. I had a note, Senator, you wish to withdraw that. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Erdman. [LB395]
SENATOR ERDMAN: That is correct. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you. It is withdrawn. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, the next amendment to the bill, Senator Fischer, FA23. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Fischer. [LB395]
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SENATOR FISCHER: I would like to withdraw that amendment and refile it on Select
File, please. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Fischer. It is withdrawn. Mr. Clerk.
[LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, Senator Erdman offers AM366. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Erdman. [LB395]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Mr. President, I would ask that that amendment be withdrawn
and filed on Select File. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Erdman. It is withdrawn. Mr. Clerk.
[LB395]
CLERK: I have nothing further to the bill at this time, Mr. President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. We return now to discussion on
LB395, the bill itself. Senator Chambers, you are recognized. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: Mr. President, members of the Legislature, if this paper
signified LB395 and it's about to move I'd say, in the words of the bard, ah, parting is
such sweet sorrow. I have one more opportunity to speak on this bill at this point and I
intend to do that, and then I won't have any further comments on the bill while it's on
General File unless somebody just provokes me. (Laughter) There have been many
attempts to regulate smoking and some have been successful in local communities;
others have not. The state, by enacting this bill in the appropriate form, will declare a
public policy that relates to the health of all the state's residents, citizens, noncitizens,
visitors, and anybody who happens to be within the borders of this state for any reason
or purpose whatsoever. When the state declares that policy, it ought to embrace all of
the people, not just those who have an enlightened governing board or body who will
protect their health. It should embrace everybody within the state. So when this bill gets
to Select File and the debate resumes, I will not support this so-called opt-out provision.
Our responsibility as the Legislature is to enact general laws. The health of people,
when it comes to breathing secondhand smoke, whether those people live in Scottsbluff
or in Omaha, will not be different. The people in Scottsbluff run just as great a risk.
Those in Red Cloud, those in Sioux City, those in Norfolk, those in Brownville, wherever
they live in this state, the same threat to their health from secondhand smoke will exist.
The same threat to the health of employees will exist. If we have people on this floor
who say that the employer should be able to allow smoking in his or her establishment,
that employer should be allowed to bust a union comprising people who work in his or
her business. But union busting is not allowed. Why? Why shouldn't the employer be
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allowed to do whatever he or she pleases? Why should not the employer be allowed to
pay $1.10 if people are willing to work for $1.10 an hour? Because a policy decision was
reached to say that certain wage levels should not fall below a certain point because
this is a civilized society. Those who have the power are not going to be allowed a free
hand to do anything they want to those who lack power or the wherewithal to stand up
and speak for themselves. Senator White knows that one reason... [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB395]
SENATOR CHAMBERS: ...the federal courts came into existence is because people
could not get justice in the state courts in certain locations in this country, and the
federal courts came into existence for that purpose and were granted certain types of
jurisdiction to counter that racism, that hatred, and that unfairness which would be in the
state courts. The state should adopt this policy and protect all the citizens and not leave
their welfare to the vagaries of a weak village board or city council. Thank you, Mr.
President. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Chambers. Anyone else wishing to
speak to LB395? Seeing no lights on, Senator Johnson, you're recognized to close on
LB395. [LB395]
SENATOR JOHNSON: Mr. President and members of this great Legislature, we've had
a very significant battle over the last couple of days as to what local control means, and
particularly local control when it comes to the health of our fellow citizens. Want to thank
everyone for advancing the amendment brought by Senator White and Senator Mines.
This is a tool for us to discuss and hopefully come to an agreement regarding the main
points of contention, and that is just what is local control and how we would go about
regulating this, and particularly when it comes to the smoking. I think that without
exception in this room we are all in agreement that smoking is bad, secondhand
smoking is also bad and destructive to our neighbor's health, and it may be our friend
sitting in the next chair. With that having been said, thank you for your great discussion.
I would ask that we advance this to E&R for initial. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Johnson. You have heard the closing
on LB395. The question is, shall LB395 advance to E&R Initial? All those in favor vote
yea; all those opposed vote nay. Have all those voted that wish to? Record, Mr. Clerk.
[LB395]
CLERK: 32 ayes, 6 nays, Mr. President, on the advancement of LB395. [LB395]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: LB395 does advance. Mr. Clerk. [LB395]
CLERK: Mr. President, items, thank you. Your Committee on Enrollment and Review
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reports LB497 to Select File with Enrollment and Review amendments attached.
Enrollment and Review also reports LB239, LB296, and LB390 as correctly engrossed.
Priority bill designations: Natural Resources Committee, chaired by Senator Louden,
has selected LB579 and LB295 as the two committee priority bills; Senator Aguilar,
LB564. Hearing notice from Senator Heidemann, and also from the Rules Committee,
chaired by Senator Hudkins. Amendments to be printed: Senator Johnson to LB395;
Senator Hudkins, LB659; Senator Fischer to LB395; Senator Erdman to LB395.
Resolutions: Senator Stuthman offers LR43 and LR44; Senator Gay offers LR45; all
three will be laid over. And a new A bill. (Read LB370A by title for the first time.) That's
all that I had, Mr. President. (Legislative Journal pages 753-760.) [LB497 LB239 LB296
LB390 LB579 LB295 LB564 LB395 LB659 LR43 LR44 LR45 LB370A]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. We will continue...we'll proceed to
continue with General File. LB57. [LB57]
CLERK: Mr. President, LB57 is a bill originally introduced by Senator Preister and
others. (Read title.) Bill was introduced on January 5 of this year; at that time it was
referred to the Business and Labor Committee. Bill was advanced to General File. At
this time, Mr. President, I have no amendments pending to the bill. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Preister, you are recognized
to open on LB57. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Thank you, Honorable President, friends all. This will be a little
unique as we work through this bill because, due to his legal background and
experience in this area, Senator White will actually be handling the bill on the floor.
Although I will be involved and I'll give a brief opening explanation on the bill, Senator
White, because of his technical expertise and knowledge of this area and as it works,
will be better equipped to answer those types of questions. So I will certainly do what I
can, I will be here, I support the bill, but those questions can be directed to him. Now,
having said that, let me give you some information on what it does before I yield time to
Senator White. This legislation permits the labor organization and employer to enter into
an agreement requiring represented employees of the employer who are not paying
membership dues to the labor organization to pay a fair share representation
contribution. However, the employer may not be forced into an agreement with this
provision. It is voluntary between the employer and the collective bargaining unit. LB57
does not repeal Nebraska's right to work laws. It does not force any Nebraska worker to
join a union, nor does it prevent any worker from resigning membership in a labor
organization. It does not allow any Nebraska workers to be refused a job or discharged
from a job because the worker either belongs to a labor organization or does not belong
to a labor organization. It does not apply to unorganized employers. Therefore, 98
percent of the employers in the state will not be affected whatsoever. It does not require
an employer to agree to a fair share representation contribution agreement. Again, it's
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voluntary in the negotiation. It does apply to labor organizations that are recognized as
certified, exclusive collective bargaining representatives, and that's approximately 8
percent of the employers in the state, so it's a minority number of employers that would
be even affected. The fair share representation contribution cannot exceed the amount
regularly paid for labor organization membership, so the amount of dues could never be
exceeded in this contribution. Failure of a represented employee to pay his or her fair
share representation contribution gives the labor organization the right to bring action in
court for payment with reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs. I introduced LB57 out
of a sense of fairness. I believe it is reasonable to ask nonunion employees to
contribute a fair share for the benefits they derive from union-negotiated collective
bargaining agreements. Currently, union employees are essentially subsidizing benefits
which accrue to all employees. My bill is not intended to force employees to join unions
or to unionize all work environments. LB57 provides a tool which can be used if both the
union and the employer agree. Again, it's voluntarily. They have to agree to address the
disparity of benefits received by nonunion employees. There is some confusion. We
have had bills in the past, and Senator Pam Redfield had worked on this issue and the
related component. That component dealt with representation in legal matters. That's
not what this bill is. This bill deals with negotiations for the contracts. Contract
negotiation is what's covered here, not legal representation on grievances. So I want to
make sure that's clear in people's minds. This is contract negotiation, not grievance
representation. And with that, Mr. President, I would yield the remainder of the opening
to Senator White. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, 5 minutes. [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Thank you, Mr. President. This bill actually embodies into our
statutes what we've generally recognized across the state as being a simple matter of
justice. If, for example, you were in a car wreck and an ambulance comes and picks you
up and it takes you to the hospital, you're unconscious and they render aid to you, the
law has long implied that you are legally responsible for the benefit that the hospital
conferred to you and the ambulance conferred to you, even though you were
unconscious and did not consent to it. The law has recognized that often in situations
we derive benefits from the labors of others and under many circumstances we should
be responsible for the fair value of those services that were delivered to us. What is
important here, first of all, is recognize that absolutely no one will have to pay a union
anything unless first the employer has agreed with the union that in the situation of their
relationship the union is delivering substantial value to individuals; and then second, the
union must prove, the union has the obligation to prove, that it has delivered something
of real value and the amount, monetary amount, of that value to the person. And only at
that time will the person have any obligation to pay the union anything. The union must
establish it has delivered valuable services and those cannot be political services in the
form of any kind of lobbying, nor can it be any kind of advertising, nor can it be any kind
of organizational abilities. So any activity that's really recognized as a union activity that
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often is objected to will never be recovered from any individual. What then, you may
ask, will a union in fact be able to pursue? And you might ask fairly, why would any
employer agree to this? The reason is that in many of the modern day workplaces there
are complicated situations. For example, often unions have access to, though at great
expense, some of the best safety experts in the world. They will bring to a job site
experts who will review how production is done to minimize work comp injuries. For
example, they will redesign the handles on knives in packing plants. They will relocate
benches to minimize back injuries, they will talk about how they can more effectively
assign workers to different tasks to reduce or eliminate carpel tunnel syndrome. They
will do...bring in experts to look at scaffolding to reduce the numbers of injuries in
construction. These are expensive things to go, but the unions can provide and do
provide those kind of services not only to the employer but to all employees who get to
work in a safer environment. Similarly, and this is an area I've worked with extensively,
unions will provide representation, indeed under our laws generally must provide
representation, to employees who are charged with violations of the work contract and
facing discipline or discharge. This is an enormous benefit to the employer, as well as
the employee, because the employee gets a skilled representative who understands the
contract, understands the work environment. The employer gets a rational hearing...
[LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: ...that actually addresses the issue. It helps streamline their
interaction with their employees, and both the employer and the employee benefit. What
this law would require is, to the extent unions provide those kinds of benefits across the
workplace--again, not political, not organizing but safety representation--they should be
paid just like the ambulance service that picked you up off the road. Thank you, Mr.
President. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator White. Mr. Clerk, for amendment.
[LB57]
CLERK: Mr. President, I now have amendments to the bill. Senator Erdman would offer
FA35. (Legislative Journal page 760.) [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. Senator Erdman, you are recognized
to open on FA35. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Mr. President and members of the Legislature, I want to be
up-front about what my intentions are this morning, in respect to Senator Preister and
Senator White. I have been a member of this Legislature when bills have come out of
committees without committee amendments, that have been debated on the floor, and
with a simple call of the question the bill gets the opportunity to advance. My
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amendments this morning are simply an opportunity to prevent that from happening until
there's been a full and fair debate, and I think Senator Preister would agree with that
intention. The value or the validity of the amendments will stand on their own. They are
simply drafted in some logical areas that I think would be a fair placeholder for this
process. Specifically, the amendment that's before you, FA35, would strike the
language on page 4 that would allow the--make sure I got this right--labor organization
the opportunity to recover reasonable attorney fees and court costs. It's a logical
opportunity, I thought, to amend. I don't know that it's necessarily a good idea. But
instead of just simply filing motions to delay this process, I wanted to make sure that we
had some placeholders in this process. These bills have come before the Legislature in
the past, and I haven't done my reading, if you will, of all the information I've received
pro and against. I'm sure you've probably received a ton of it in your in-box. I know that
there are groups that are adamantly in support of this bill. I've had conversations with
them personally. I've heard through my e-mail that there are groups that are opposed to
this bill, based on either perceptions or realities, and I'm hopeful that this debate will
flesh out what is perceived and what is real, and ultimately we as a Legislature can
decide whether or not this is the right public policy for the state of Nebraska. Senator
White is a very talented orator and has the ability to frame the debate. The example that
he gives about an ambulance, as I understand it, there's probably a couple different
scenarios that probably need to be factored into this. I have been the recipient of a ride
in an ambulance due to my inability to respond, and did so at a predetermined
arrangement with my insurance company, and that is that in the event that I was going
to have that free ride in the ambulance, at some point I would pay for it, and that was an
agreement prior to my needing their services, and so I kind of equate some of that
analogy to this situation as well. As I understand this process, and Senator Preister
pointed out it's approximately 8 percent of the employees or employers would be
subject to this law in the state, as I also understand that process, they have negotiated
with that employer the opportunity to be the exclusive negotiator for all employees,
regardless of membership. And I would go back then to that ambulance analogy and
further provide some clarity. In the event that there is a willingness by the
members--and again, I'm not an expert and I would welcome and in fact encourage
others to correct me if I'm mistaken on how the exclusivity of the process is arrived at in
these negotiations--but if I have willingly negotiated that with the insurance companies
to provide for my medical needs, in the event that I need an ambulance ride, I would
see that that is one scenario. In the event that I have not had that opportunity and I'm,
say, uninsured, there are other provisions. You can possibly go after that individual as a
claim from a private pay standpoint or possibly have the unfortunate circumstance, as
some of our facilities and service providers in the state have had to do, and that's write
that expense off. So as I understand this process, we're trying to be fair. I think that's an
appropriate way to look at it. I would like to ask Senator White a few questions, if he
would yield, to help me with my understanding of his earlier comments. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question? [LB57]
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SENATOR WHITE: I will. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: And before we get there, Senator White, can you correct if I'm not
understanding this correctly. When a labor organization becomes the exclusive...and
maybe that's not the right term, but if it's an exclusive agreement with the employer to
negotiate for all employees, that's something that they do up-front at the time of their
organization. Is that accurate? [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, yeah, at the time that they're elected to represent the working
area, yes, they take on that obligation. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Okay. So you mentioned that there would be a standard that that
organization would have to reach in order to be able to go and get what you would call
the fair share part of LB57. You said something about having a substantial benefit to the
employee. Can you show me in LB57 where that language is, or is that just an
understanding? Because I'm trying to find that myself. [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, I don't have the bill right in front of me, but if I did, I could.
What it says is that the employee...employer...the union has the right to sue the
employee for...to the extent benefit has been received, but it excludes organization and,
of course, they're protected from contributing on First Amendment basis that they don't
agree with. So absolutely the burden is placed on the union to show that they actually
provided value to the employee, and the amount of it. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: So maybe I can direct your attention. There's language in here
that says that the amount the labor organization has determined constitutes the
contribution and the percentage of contribution represents of the regular dues paid by
the member, that's in page 4, I guess I'm trying to...I'm trying to connect the dots.
Because I want to know from the proponent side how this is designed to apply, and then
compare it to the language to make sure that I can follow along and truly understand.
Because I think part of the problem with LB57 is, again, the perceptions versus the
reality, and I'm hoping that through this debate we can get to the realities and then
make a decision from those. [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Yeah, if you look at Section 4, it says: any labor organization which
assesses the fair share representation contribution for nonmember employees, as
authorized in Section 2 of this act, shall establish a procedure for a nonmember
employee to challenge labor organizations' contribution calculations. And what this does
is it places the burden on the union to isolate what actually being contributed to the
employee that is...what is actually being given to them; what are they spending on
safety inspections in the area; what are they saving...spending on representation of the
employees in a dispute resolutions over conditions of employment; what are they doing,
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for example, to enforce the contract to make sure if, for example, it says that you cannot
require people to both drive the truck and then be forced to unload it; what kind of
contract administration expenses. The bill, throughout it, clearly puts that burden on the
union to demonstrate that. Is that responsive, Senator? [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: It is, and I greatly appreciate that, Senator White. Can you also
then go with me real briefly then? The amendment that I have before, and I would
imagine that there is maybe a basis elsewhere for this language about giving the entity
that is prevailing in the legal proceeding the opportunity to recover reasonable attorney
fees and costs. Can you give me a legal background of how that standard is generally
arrived at outside of this, and why that was used then in this dynamic? [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Generally, the state does not generally award attorneys' fees or
court costs, but in smaller matters where we have...well, often it's merchants with
amounts that are relatively small. In order to keep the merchant from literally being
beaten down by the attorneys' fees, we allow a recovery of attorneys' fees on smaller
debts. That's part of the general statutes. Senator, I'd need to, since I didn't know the
question, I'd need to get to them, but I can show you later where in smaller amounts we
do allow recovery by merchants of attorneys' fees and costs in smaller debts. And that,
again, is otherwise this becomes a right without a remedy. You can't enforce it. This
puts a union on the same basis as a merchant in a smaller amount, and we are dealing
with relatively small amounts here. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: Very good. And I appreciate that. I don't mean to (laugh) make
you read to me the statutes. I can go find those provisions as well. I just wanted to
clarify specifically because it deals with the amendment that's before us. And again,
members, just in case you're coming late to the--thank you, Senator White--in case
you're coming late to the discussion, I have filed a couple of amendments just to make
sure that this morning we have an opportunity to debate the merits of the bill and
understand it. Maybe I'm the only one that has some of these concerns, but I think in
keeping with Senator Preister's practice that, long as he's been here and the attempts
that he's made to ensure that other entities outside of this body are about a full and fair
debate, and at least allowing this discussion to happen. I don't intend to offer these
amendments to detract from his legislation, but simply to ensure that we have the
opportunity to discuss it fully and at that point we will proceed. So I just wanted to share
that with the body. Specifically, the amendment before you would strike the ability of the
labor organization to recover reasonable attorney fees... [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
SENATOR ERDMAN: ...and court costs, and again it's simply a placeholder to allow the
discussion to begin this morning. Thank you, Mr. President. [LB57]
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SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Erdman. Now we go to...floor
discussion is open on FA35. Senator Fulton, Nantkes, Engel, Carlson, Preister, and
many others. Senator Fulton, you're first. You're recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Thank you, Mr. President, members of the body. That this bill fell
chronologically where it did provided me the weekend such that I could do a little
investigation and read both sides of this argument, because it does appear there are a
couple of sides to the argument. There is something that I read in the statement of
intent that is confusing to me, and that was that this bill does not usurp Nebraska's right
to work laws. And I'm having a hard time discovering that, so I am wondering if I might
get some clarification. Would Senator Preister yield to a question? [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator Preister, would you yield to a question from Senator
Fulton? [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Yes, I will. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: And I should ask, Senator Preister, if maybe it's more...it's more
appropriate that I direct my questions to Senator White. Are... [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: You can ask me. I think he probably has more experience in
dealing with the issue, but I will attempt, and then... [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: ...you can ask him. It's your choice. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. There is...I was able to go to the AFL-CIO's web site and
I've received a lot of information here so I'm going to try to direct you to the information
that I'm looking at, and they have a web page that's dedicated specifically to right to
work issues. I'm going to just read from the opening paragraph, and I want to see if
I'm...I guess, if you agree with the statements and if I'm accurately understanding them.
[LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Sure. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. It starts: Right to work laws, to set the record and the name
straight, right to work for less doesn't guarantee any rights. In fact, by weakening unions
and collective bargaining, it destroys the best job security protection that exists--the
union contract. Meanwhile, it allows workers to pay nothing and get all the benefits of
union membership. Right to work laws say unions must represent all eligible employees,
whether they pay dues or not. So I guess I need to determine firstly, do you agree with
that sentence anyway--right to work laws say that unions must represent all eligible
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employees, whether they pay dues or not? Would that be representative of right to work
laws? [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: It is my understanding that the National Labor Relations Act, the
federal policy, requires that the unions do represent all members of the collective
bargaining unit when they are the primary responsible negotiator for that unit. So, yes,
federal law would require, just as that statement says, the union to represent everyone,
both union and nonunion members who are a part of that collective bargaining union. I
agree. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay, that's...that seemed to be what it said to me. So then would
you...generally speaking then, would you say that right to work laws are good or are
they bad? To help us nonlawyers understand a little more succinctly, are the right to
work laws good or bad? [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Senator, that's a matter of perspective. There are... [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: I'm asking for your perspective on it. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: ...those that would say that it is, and those that would say that it
is not. As a general rule, that's what Nebraska is and I accept that, but within that
framework there are certain responsibilities. And beyond that, you might want to ask...
[LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. Would Senator White yield to a question? [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White, would you yield to a question? [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Yes, sir. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Senator White, have you been following the line of questioning
that I'm... [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: I have. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. Right to work laws say the unions must represent all
eligible employees whether they pay dues or not. So my question then, that giving...that
is what right to work laws do... [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: No, actually... [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
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SENATOR WHITE: ...I disagree with that statement technically. Right to work laws say
that a person need not join a union, and they're generally...the statement is you have a
right to work at any shop and you cannot be required to support a union, particularly in
its political views, in its organizational views, things like that. That's what a right to work
law states. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Okay. So you would disagree with the statement that right to work
laws say unions must represent employees whether they pay dues or not. [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Now other laws do absolutely require that, Senator Preister is
perfectly correct, not only the national laws but state laws, and I have in fact sued
unions for failure to represent people, who did not belong to the union, adequately
during negotiations and have vindicated those rights. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Senator White, would you... [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: There's no question that's true. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: ...would it be your contention then, would right to work laws be
good or bad for the state? [LB57]
SENATOR WHITE: Well, for me, I believe that actually organized labor is preferable. I
think people live a better life. We look at the states that have stronger unions. The
citizens live better... [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB57]
SENATOR FULTON: Thank you, Mr. President. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Fulton. Senator Nantkes, followed by
Engel, Carlson, Preister, and others. Senator Nantkes, you are recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR NANTKES: Thank you, Mr. President. Good morning, colleagues. I rise in
opposition to the Erdman amendment and in support of the underlying bill. As many of
you know, I have prioritized LB57 as my priority bill for this session, and I think Senator
Erdman, in his opening on the amendment, really did in fact clearly illustrate for us what
some of the underlying issues with this bill are. He said it's perception versus reality,
and I couldn't agree more. And I'd like to use my time this morning to talk about the
reality of what LB57 encompasses. This...and I've passed around a one-page facts
sheet to each of you that hopefully will shed some light on this issue, and I'd hope to go
through some of the highlights with it this...with you this morning. This legislation simply
allows a labor organization to recover costs for benefits negotiated on behalf of its
nonmember employees. It's simply permissive legislation that gives employers and
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labor an additional option to negotiate and to decide whether or not to include fair share
factors in their contract negotiations. That's one thing I really like about this legislation
and I hope others of you find attractive. This in no way is a mandate but instead
provides options and provides additional talking points as labor and management enter
into negotiations. Very simply, this legislation does keep in place Nebraska's right to
work laws. Make no mistakes with some of the different perception and misinformation
out there, LB57 does in no way weaken or attempt to repeal Nebraska's right to work
laws. It simply ensures fair payment for benefits received. It simply would apply only to
about 8 percent of Nebraska businesses. What this legislation does not do is place any
additional burdens on employers for enforcement, does not in fact cost or impose any
additional costs on Nebraska businesses and employers, and instead really only allows
for equity and fairness for all Nebraska workers. I think the debate we're going to have
on this issue will be spirited, and I hope that in the midst of it you keep in mind these
basic principles which LB57 hopes to advance--basic fairness and equity. With that, Mr.
President, I'll yield the balance of my time to Senator White, if he so desires. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Senator White. I don't see Senator White on the floor. Thank
you, Senator Nantkes. Senator Engel, you're recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR ENGEL: Mr. President, members of the body, I do support the amendment
and I do oppose the bill, and I'll tell you why I do. I am very happy that we're bringing
this up again this year. It's been up twice in the past, basically. I remember the first time,
I believe it was in 1993, but I think we should have a good, long, serious debate on this
particular situation and I think for once and for all settle whether we're going to protect
our right to work protection here, law in the state of Nebraska. A few years ago when
this was first introduced, I think the bill was very, very similar to this particular one. It
came out of Business and Labor Committee and I supported it until the committee itself
derived some more facts and then they, most of them, withdrew their support, including
the Chairman, so I withdrew my support for the following reason. I did not realize at that
time...well, first of all, let me regress a little bit. I don't believe in freeloaders, like
anything else, if you have somebody represent you and voluntarily, and then you ask for
that, and then I think you should pay the piper. However, when I found out about the
exclusive contract that the unions have contracted for, these people don't have any
choice as far as who they can get to represent them. If they had a choice, where I could
have someone else represent me, and I chose to use the union then, you bet, I should
pay. But in this particular case, where they've negotiated that for federally and evidently
here in the state, the exclusive contracts, and they do have a choice, they do not have
to negotiate for exclusive contract, they can opt out of that any time they want. When
they go to the employers, that's what they want. So when they ask for that, what they
get is they have to represent everybody, and so that's through their own volition that
they have to represent all these people. Now I'm not antiunion and never have been. My
family were hard workers. They worked in packing houses and they belonged to unions.
And one thing that happened to me this last time when I withdrew my support, of
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course, the unions got somebody to run against me. And that's not why I'm doing this,
because they had somebody running against me, because I...the thing is, with that,
because they said that I was...I did not support...I could not keep my word. Well, I didn't
keep my word because I found I got some more facts, and that had nothing to do with
keeping your word. But another reason they were against me up in my area, because I
chastised them. And what I chastised them about was we have a packing house up
there. We have IBP and now it's Tyson, and I chastised them for why aren't you out
there spending more time in that...in the IBP plant getting those salaries up where they
were 15 years ago. They are so much less than they were 15 years ago, and they're
supposed to be representing those folks up there, and the salaries they're getting, it's
atrocious, and they're taking advantage of the people working there. And of course,
most of them are immigrants. It's better than what they had, but they have certainly,
when they're up here breaking their backs, they should get paid a more fair wage. And
that irritated them and I (laugh)...and I guess I paid a little price for it because they got
someone to run against me, and that's fine. I don't mind that. And of course, we won, so
I'm still here and that person isn't. So...but the thing is, that's my biggest problem with
this whole situation--the exclusiveness of the contracts. So if you don't want to represent
those people then ask for a nonexclusive contract, represent only those that are...that
belong to the union. In a case up in our area, I told them that if you go out there and get
those wages up where they belong, I said you've got a good product to sell. You could
sell the dickens out of it because if...where you show that you're doing something for the
people. I'm only talking about one union. I'm talking about the one in our area who
represents the packing houses. I'm not talking about the other unions, and I'm not,
again, I'm not antiunion, but I think they should do a better job in certain areas and if
they're not doing...if they're doing that job, I think they could sell it. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
SENATOR ENGEL: I sold insurance for a lot of years. I sold, but I had to sell what I
sold, and I sold a lot of it. But...and they've got a good product, but as far as I'm
concerned they have to sell it, not force it upon anybody. Thank you. I return the rest of
my time to the Chair. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Engel. Senator Carlson, followed by
Preister, Lathrop, Wallman. Senator Carlson. [LB57]
SENATOR CARLSON: Mr. President, members of the body, I'm not really speaking for
the Erdman amendment, but I am going to talk about LB57. I have a great deal of
respect for Senator Preister and the members of the Business and Labor Committee. I
believe that unions serve a needed purpose and should continue to do so. I was
endorsed by the Fraternal Order of Police. I valued that support then and I value it
today. I don't blame unions for asking for as much as they dare ask for, and I believe
they should be able to vigorously pursue what they want. This is America. And I also
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know it's okay to oppose legislation that you believe isn't good legislation. We were all
elected to serve the people of Nebraska and to pass legislation that is for the public
good. I don't believe LB57 passes the public good test. Let me try to make that point by
talking about my campaign for the Legislature and my experience thus far. My district,
38, like each of yours, has about 20,000 registered voters. I'm not wealthy. I can't fund a
campaign for myself and have any chance of being elected. I had to have help, and
about 300 people from District 38 helped me financially. Fortunately, I was elected and
now I represent everyone in District 38, not just those who helped me financially. Since I
represent everyone, wouldn't it be right for each registered voter to pay their fair share
over these four years for my representing them? It wouldn't take much if all paid a
share. If each registered voter paid $2.50 per year for the next four years, that's 21
cents a month, I'd have $200,000 to offset expenses and run my 2010 campaign. If I
didn't have the stress of raising money, I could better serve the people. Wouldn't that be
better? The answer is no. We don't need to legislate fair share. That would be unfair
share and that's what I believe LB57 is. We earn the voluntary support of people by
proving what we do for them is valuable. We don't tax them into submission. We don't
fee them into submission. Unfair share is a wrong concept and I oppose it. Thank you.
[LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Carlson. Senator Preister, you're
recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Thank you, Honorable President, friends all. In my opening, I
neglected to do a couple of things, basically in the interest of time. One of them is to
thank Senator Tom White for his work in this area and his willingness to work with me
on the bill and handle some of the legal kinds of issues and questions that come up. So,
Senator White, I do appreciate that. I also want to thank Senator Nantkes, because
Senator Nantkes has seen this as important enough that she asked me if she could
prioritize it and make it her personal priority bill for this session. I do appreciate that and,
Senator Nantkes, I do thank you very much for making this your personal priority bill
and knowing that it is an important issue and that it does help the working people in our
state. So thank you to both of them. I also appreciate the Business and Labor
Committee listening in the hearing, asking some very good questions, deliberating for
several weeks, considering and thinking before they took any action, but in the end
supporting the bill in its drafted form and advancing it to the body. So to the Business
and Labor Committee I also say thanks and collectively to the individual members. It
was a unanimous vote out of committee. Then going beyond that, I appreciate what
Senator Erdman is saying. I don't support his amendment, FA35. He characterized what
he was trying to do as providing for some debate so that we have good discussion and,
Senator Erdman, I do support that. You did hear my head nodding and shaking as you
were making those comments. And I fully expect that this will not be a slam-dunk. I fully
expect that we will have lengthy debate and that it will just not be a few short comments
and the vote passes. So your amendment deals with, and you asked Senator White
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about, approximately what those legal fees would be. I want to state that these are not
punitive legal fees. These are not extravagant legal fees. These would only be the cost
for bringing the action, and that action could be avoided altogether. The employee does
not have to be taken to legal action to recoup these funds if it ever got to the point
where they were being asked to provide them. So these legal fees are not a total
requirement. Yes, if the employee who is not a member of the collective bargaining unit
chooses not to pay their portion--and that portion would be no more than what the union
dues would be, it could never equal the union dues of that particular collective
bargaining unit union--if they chose not to do that after they were assessed then it could
be a legal action in court to recoup it. That would be a somewhat nominal fee and that's
the part that Senator Erdman is attempting to strike. It's not a large amount and it can
be avoided, so I would oppose the amendment. Again, I want to stress that we're talking
about only that portion of the union collective bargaining negotiated contract and
benefits. This is not any other legal representation. This is when the collective
bargaining unit negotiates with the employer, and the employer would have to agree to
make this a part of that agreement. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: If the employer says, I don't want to do it, it's over and done. It
doesn't happen. Again, it's voluntary. The employer makes that determination with the
collective bargaining unit. So if they agree to do it, then the union, who's representing
everyone, both the union members and the nonunion members, has a formula to
determine what the cost for negotiating that contract is. And as Senator White said, it
cannot be for any of the political activities that the union does. There can be no...none
of the educational costs or any of the other costs that are factored into what that amount
is. And because of federal legislation, the unions have to do regular filing. Just like we
file campaign statements saying where our campaign funds have gone, the unions have
to do that at a federal level. They have to... [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Did you say time? [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time, Senator Preister. [LB57]
SENATOR PREISTER: Thank you. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Preister. Senator Lathrop, you're
recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR LATHROP: Thank you, Mr. President and colleagues. I am rising in support
of LB57, in opposition to the amendment, AM35, offered by Senator Erdman. And I'd
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like to take this opportunity to maybe take it out of the abstract and talk about it in a little
more concrete terms, and to do that I'd like to give an example, but before I do that let
me tell you that unions do an awful lot of things. They engage in political activities, they
may engage in some charitable activities, they might sponsor a picnic, they might do a
number of different things that don't have anything to do with negotiating a contract, but
they also negotiate a contract for the people who work at the union shop and they also
represent them in grievances. And what this bill does is it requires that those who
benefit...and listen, don't kid yourself that when a union represents the workers at a
place of employment and they negotiate a rate of pay and they negotiate the insurance
package and they negotiate all the other benefits and the terms and the hours and the
conditions of employment, that benefits every single person in that shop; not just the
people that are paying the dues, but every single person in that shop. And what this bill
is intended to do, because we are a right to work state--which is fine, that's our
law--what this bill does is that it calls upon those people who don't want to join the
union, for a variety of reasons--maybe they don't like their political views, maybe they
don't want to go to the picnic that the union sponsors, maybe they don't like some of the
other charitable activities that the union is participating in--this bill simply says you don't
have to pay that part of the union due, but what you do need to do is to step up to the
plate. You need to step up to the plate and pay for what you're getting in the wages and
the benefits and the representation at the grievances. If we were to try to make this a
little more concrete with an example, we could use a machine shop, and let's say that
they have 70 employees and they are represented by the machinists' union, and 60 of
them are union members. They pay dues. Those dues go to all of the things that we've
talked about. They compensate the union for representing them in the negotiations of
their wage package and their benefits and so forth. The ten people that don't belong to
that union still get the same benefits. The union is representing them with respect to
their age rate. The union is representing them with respect to their health insurance,
their retirement, and the union is representing them when they're in a grievance.
Imagine that there are people who are in union shops that don't join the union and then,
when they get crosswise with their employer, they go to the union and say, represent
me, you have to; I didn't pay you anything, I won't participate; I just want the benefits of
the union without paying the fee. What fair share does is it says to those people who
want a free ride, we're not going to ask you to participate in the social costs of the union,
in our charitable efforts, even in our political efforts, but what we do want from you is
some fraction of a union fee that represents the cost of getting you those benefits. I
think the concept is very simple, it is very equitable. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: One minute. [LB57]
SENATOR LATHROP: Thank you. And one more thing while I still have a minute left
and that's to talk about the opposition. We have all gotten e-mails and a lot of them in
opposition. This morning I had somebody from my district send me an e-mail that said,
I'm strongly opposed to LB57. I wrote back and I said, can you tell me what union you
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belong to so that I can figure out just where you're being taken advantage of, if you think
LB57 is a bad idea. She wrote back and said, I'm actually a CPA; the NFIB said I should
send e-mails out on this. The fact is, is this will not affect the economy, it will not affect
economic development, and the opposition that you're getting is coming from the
National or Nebraska Federation of Independent Businessmen who will not even be
affected by this bill. They won't even be touched by this bill. We will not require that one
shop that's nonunion become union. All we're doing is asking the people who benefit
from the union negotiation, the union representation to pay their fair share. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Time. [LB57]
SENATOR LATHROP: Thank you. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Lathrop. Senator Wallman, you're
recognized. [LB57]
SENATOR WALLMAN: Thank you, Mr. President. I find it ironic. Is this business against
labor? A union represents labor, mainly, and also they represent different things, like
machinists. And (inaudible) my family and self was split on union versus nonunion, but
union brought better wages to the meat packers. And why is the wages going down in
the meat packing plants? Because of illegal immigrants. And why is the union...still has
to represent some of them, but our union representative has got so low that we don't
have so much clout as we used to have. So why is that? We're a right to work state,
right? And I found it ironic that a person that works in the state for the union comes to
my office, and I said, would you be willing to pay your union dues to charity? You know
what he told me? No, we wouldn't give his union dues to charity, and he still wants a
union to represent him. I'm a farmer and I always paid above union wages and so do my
friends. And so, yeah, nobody like to be told what they do when they hire people, but
the union teaches masonry, they teach different trades, and they teach you how to
make a good living, pay taxes, buy houses, send their kids to school, have wives who
teach or whatever. All the union people I know are very good people. They support their
community and if they make good money they spend money, just like farmers. We
make good money, we spend it. And it's kind of fun, Tom, spending money. (Laugh) So
this is a fair share bill. I do not appreciate any amendments on here. I would like to see
it passed just like it is. And thank you, Mr. President. [LB57]
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Senator Wallman. Mr. Clerk. [LB57]
CLERK: Mr. President, a priority bill designation: Senator Carlson has selected LB458;
Senator Friend, as Chair of Urban Affairs, two committee priority bills, LB597 and
LB160. New resolution: Senator Louden, LR46; that will be laid over. Senator Schimek
has an amendment to be printed to LB402. [LB57 LB458 LB597 LB160 LR46 LB402]
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Announcements, Mr. President: Education Committee will meet in Executive Session
upon adjournment in Room 1126. The Agriculture Committee will have an Executive
Session in Room 2102 at 2:30 today; Agriculture at 2:30 in Room 2102. (Legislative
Journal pages 760-762.) []
And, Mr. President, I have a priority motion. Senator Burling would move to adjourn until
Wednesday morning, March 7, at 9:00 a.m. []
SENATOR LANGEMEIER: Thank you, Mr. Clerk. The motion before the body is, shall
we adjourn till Wednesday, March 7, at 9:00 a.m.? All those in favor vote yea. All those
opposed say nay. The ayes have it. We are adjourned. []
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